
MEETING AGENDA OF THE 
MOUNTAIN BROOK CITY COUNCIL 

CITY HALL COUNCIL CHAMBER (ROOM A108) 
56 CHURCH STREET, MOUNTAIN BROOK, AL 35213 

FEBRUARY 10,2020,7:00 P.M. 

1. Charles Alexander, candidate for Jefferson County Tax Collector, to address the governing body. 

2. Presentation of the draft audited financial statements of the City as of and for the year ended 
September 30,2020 (Jason Harpe and Catherine Cannon) 

3. Approval of the minutes of the January 27,2020, regular meeting of the Mountain Brook City 
Council. 

4. Consideration: Resolution encouraging and applauding the Freshwater Land Trust's efforts to 
clean up litter in local waterways. 

5. Consideration: Resolution authorizing the execution of a contract agreement between the City 
and Jefferson County Commission with respect to Photogrammetric Mapping and Orthoimagery 
services. 

6. Announcement: The next regular meeting of the City Council is February 24,2020, at 7:00 p.m. 
in the Council Chamber of City Hall located at 56 Church Street, Mountain Brook, AL 3 52 13. 

7. Comments from residents. 

8. Adjourn. 



 

 

 
 
 
 
DATE PENDING 
 
To the City Council  
Mountain Brook, Alabama 
 
We  have  audited  the  financial  statements  of  the  governmental  activities,  the  discretely  presented 
component unit, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the City of Mountain 
Brook (the “City”) for the year ended September 30, 2019. Professional standards require that we provide 
you  with  information  about  our  responsibilities  under  generally  accepted  auditing  standards  (and,  if 
applicable,  Government  Auditing  Standards  and  the  Uniform  Guidance),  as  well  as  certain  information 
related  to  the  planned  scope  and  timing  of  our  audit. We  have  communicated  such  information  in  our 
letter to you dated September 30, 2019. Professional standards also require that we communicate to you 
the following information related to our audit. 

Significant Audit Matters  
Qualitative Aspects of Accounting Practices 
Management  is  responsible  for  the  selection  and  use  of  appropriate  accounting  policies.  The  significant 
accounting policies used by the City are described in Note 1 to the financial statements.  No new accounting 
policies were adopted and the application of existing policies was not changed during 2019. We noted no 
transactions entered into by the City during the year for which there is a lack of authoritative guidance or 
consensus.  All  significant  transactions  have  been  recognized  in  the  financial  statements  in  the  proper 
period.  

Accounting  estimates  are  an  integral  part  of  the  financial  statements  prepared by management  and  are 
based on management’s knowledge and experience about past and current events and assumptions about 
future events. Certain accounting estimates are particularly  sensitive because of  their  significance  to  the 
financial statements and because of the possibility that future events affecting them may differ significantly 
from those expected. The most sensitive estimates affecting the City’s financial statements were: 

Management’s estimate of pension and other post‐employment  liabilities and  related deferrals are 
based on actuarial estimates and assumptions including but not limited to investment rate of return, 
discount rates, health care trend rates, mortality rates,  funding projections, participant census data 
and projection and discounting techniques unique to the actuarial computation process.    

Management’s  estimate  of  the  workers’  compensation  loss  reserves  is  based  on  certain  actuarial 
assumptions,  and  the  accrued  compensated  absences  liability  is  based  on  assumptions  related  to 
certain  personnel  and  payroll  matters.  We  evaluated  the  key  factors  and  assumptions  used  to 
develop the workers’ compensation loss reserves and the accrued compensated absences liability in 
determining that they are reasonable in relation to the financial statements taken as a whole. 

Management’s  estimate  over  the  residual  value  of  capital  assets  based  on  the  City’s  depreciation 
policy and management’s  approximation of  the  remaining useful  lives of  the assets. We evaluated 
the City’s annual depreciation expense and other key  factors used to develop the residual value of 



City Council  
Mountain Brook, Alabama 
DATE PENDING 
Page 2 
 
 

 

capital assets  in determining that  it  is  reasonable  in relation to the financial statements taken as a 
whole. 

Management’s valuation of the investments is based on the investment custodian. We evaluated the 
key factors and assumptions used to develop estimated market values of investments in determining 
that they are reasonable in relation to the financial statements taken as a whole. 

Management’s estimate of  revenues,  receivables, prepaids,  and payables  related  to  the City’s  cost 
reimbursement grants  is based on information available by the state and the project engineer, and 
this information is subject to change. We evaluated the key factors and assumptions used to develop 
the grant revenue, receivables, and payables  in determining that they are reasonable  in relation to 
the financial statements taken as a whole. 

Management’s  estimate  of  the  liability  to  the  Jefferson  County  Personnel  is  based  on  the  City’s 
estimate of actual amount due. We evaluated the key factors and assumptions used to develop the 
balance in determining that it is reasonable in relation to the financial statements taken as a whole. 

Certain  financial  statement disclosures are particularly  sensitive because of  their  significance  to  financial 
statement users. The most sensitive disclosures affecting the financial statements were: 

The disclosure of the City’s pension plan and post‐employment benefits other than pensions in Note 
5  and  Note  6,  respectively,  to  the  financial  statements.  These  disclosures  contain  actuarial 
assumptions and valuations that may differ from actual results. 

The financial statement disclosures are neutral, consistent, and clear. 

Difficulties Encountered in Performing the Audit 
We encountered no significant difficulties  in dealing with management in performing and completing our 
audit.  

Corrected and Uncorrected Misstatements 
Professional standards require us to accumulate all known and  likely misstatements  identified during the 
audit,  other  than  those  that  are  clearly  trivial,  and  communicate  them  to  the  appropriate  level  of 
management. No material audit adjustments were identified in our audit procedures. 

Disagreements with Managements 
For  purposes  of  this  letter,  a  disagreement  with  management  is  a  financial  accounting,  reporting,  or 
auditing  matter,  whether  or  not  resolved  to  our  satisfaction,  that  could  be  significant  to  the  financial 
statements or the auditor's report. We are pleased to report that no such disagreements arose during the 
course of our audit. 

Management Representations 
We  have  requested  certain  representations  from  management  that  are  included  in  the  management 
representation letter dated DATE PENDING. 

Management Consultations with Other Independent Accountants 
In some cases, management may decide to consult with other accountants about auditing and accounting 
matters, similar to obtaining a "second opinion" on certain situations. If a consultation involves application 
of  an  accounting  principle  to  the  City's  financial  statements  or  a  determination  of  the  type  of  auditor's 
opinion  that  may  be  expressed  on  those  statements,  our  professional  standards  require  the  consulting 
accountant to check with us to determine that the consultant has all the relevant facts. To our knowledge, 



City Council  
Mountain Brook, Alabama 
DATE PENDING 
Page 3 
 
 

 

there were no such consultations with other accountants. 

Other Audit Findings or Issues 
We generally discuss a variety of matters,  including  the application of accounting principles and auditing 
standards, with management each year prior to retention as the City's auditors. However, these discussions 
occurred in the normal course of our professional relationship and our responses were not a condition to 
our retention. 

Other Matters 
We  applied  certain  limited  procedures  to management’s  discussion  and  analysis,  budgetary  comparison 
schedules,  the  Schedule  of  Changes  in  the  Net  Pension  Liability  and  Related  Ratios,  the  Schedule  of 
Employer Contributions for pensions, the Schedule of Changes in Net OPEB Liability and Related Ratios, the 
Schedule of Employer Contributions for OPEB, and the Schedule of Investment Returns, which are required 
supplementary  information  (RSI)  that  supplements  the  basic  financial  statements.  Our  procedures 
consisted of inquiries of management regarding the methods of preparing the information and comparing 
the  information  for  consistency  with  management’s  responses  to  our  inquiries,  the  basic  financial 
statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements. We did 
not audit the RSI and do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the RSI. 

We were engaged  to  report on  the combining  fund  statements and  schedules,  schedule of  general  fund 
revenues by source, and the comparative statements for  individual funds, which accompany the financial 
statements but are not RSI. With respect to this supplementary information, we made certain inquiries of 
management  and evaluated  the  form,  content,  and methods of  preparing  the  information  to determine 
that  the  information  complies  with  accounting  principles  generally  accepted  in  the  United  States  of 
America,  the  method  of  preparing  it  has  not  changed  from  the  prior  period,  and  the  information  is 
appropriate and complete in relation to our audit of the financial statements. We compared and reconciled 
the  supplementary  information  to  the  underlying  accounting  records  used  to  prepare  the  financial 
statements or to the financial statements themselves. 

Restriction on Use 
This  information is  intended solely for the use of the City Council and management of the City and is not 
intended to be and should not be used by anyone other than these specified parties. 
 
Very truly yours, 
 
 
Carr, Riggs & Ingram, L.L.C. 
Birmingham, Alabama 



CITY OF MOUNTAIN BROOK, ALABAMA

BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

SEPTEMBER 30, 2019

DRAFT



This page is blank intentionally.

DRAFT



City of Mountain Brook, Alabama
City Officials

SEPTEMBER 30, 2019

MAYOR

The Honorable Stewart H. Welch III

CITY COUNCIL

Ms. Virginia C. Smith, President

Mr. Philip E. Black Mr. Lloyd C. Shelton

Mr. William S. (Billy) Pritchard III Ms. Alice B. Womack

CITY MANAGER

Mr. Sam S. Gaston

DEPARTMENT SUPERVISORS

Building Inspections . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . Mr. Glen Merchant
Finance  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . Mr. Steven Boone
Fire Department . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . Mr. Chris Mullins
Planning, Building, and Sustainability . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .Ms. Dana Hazen
Police Department  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . Mr. Theodore J. (Ted) Cook
Streets and Sanitation  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . Mr. Ronald D. Vaughn
Parks and Recreation . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . Mr. Shanda Williams

DRAFT



This page is blank intentionally.

DRAFT



City of Mountain Brook, Alabama

Table of Contents

Page
Independent Auditors' Report 5

Management's Discussion and Analysis 7

Basic Financial Statements
Government-wide Statement of Net Position 19
Government-wide Statement of Activities 20

Fund Financial Statements:
Balance Sheet ─  Governmental Funds 21
Reconciliation of the Governmental Funds Balance Sheet

to the Statement of Net Position 22
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in

Fund Balances ─  Governmental Funds 23
Reconciliation of the Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes

in Fund Balance of Governmental Funds to the Government-wide
Statement of Activities 24

Statement of Fiduciary Net Position ─ OPEB Trust Fund 25
Statement of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position ─ OPEB Trust Fund 26

Notes to Financial Statements 27

Required Supplementary Information 51
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in 

Fund Balances ─ Budget and Actual ─ General Fund 55
Notes to Required Supplementary Information 56
Schedule of Changes in the Net Pension Liability and Related Ratios 57
Schedule of Employer Contributions 58
Other Post-Employment Benefits (OPEB)

Schedule of Changes in Net OPEB Liability and Related Ratios 60
Schedule of Employer Contributions 61
Schedule of Investment Returns 62

Supplementary Information 64
Combining Balance Sheet ─ Other Governmental Funds 65

Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in
Fund Balances ─ Other Governmental Funds 66

Combining Balance Sheet ─ Capital Projects Funds 67

Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in
Fund Balances ─ Capital Projects Funds 68

Schedule of General Fund Revenues by Source 69

Comparative Balance Sheet ─ General Fund 70

3

DRAFT



City of Mountain Brook, Alabama

Table of Contents

Page

Comparative Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes
in Fund Balances ─ General Fund 71

Comparative Balance Sheet ─ Capital Projects Funds 72

Comparative Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes
in Fund Balances ─ Capital Projects Funds 73

Comparative Balance Sheet ─ Debt Service Fund 74

Comparative Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes
in Fund Balance ─ Debt Service Fund 75

Report on Compliance and Internal Control
Independent Auditor's Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting and

on Compliance and Other Matters Based on an Audit of Financial Statements
Performed in Accordance with Governmental Auditing Standards 79

Schedule of Findings and Responses 81

4

DRAFT



   
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Independent Auditors’ Report 

 

Mayor and City Council 
  City of Mountain Brook 
    Mountain Brook, Alabama 

Report on the Financial Statements 
We  have  audited  the  accompanying  financial  statements  of  the  governmental  activities,  the  discretely  presented 
component unit, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of City of Mountain Brook, Alabama 
(the City) as of and for the year ended September 30, 2019, and the related notes to the financial statements, which 
collectively comprise the City’s basic financial statements as listed in the table of contents. 

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with 
accounting principles generally accepted  in  the United States of America;  this  includes the design,  implementation, 
and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

Auditors’ Responsibility 
Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in 
accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and the standards applicable 
to  financial  audits  contained  in Government  Auditing  Standards,  issued  by  the  Comptroller  General  of  the  United 
States. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether 
the financial statements are free from material misstatement. The financial statements of the Mountain Brook Library 
Foundation, which represents the City’s discretely presented component unit, were not audited  in accordance with 
Government Auditing Standards.  

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements.  The  procedures  selected  depend  on  the  auditor’s  judgment,  including  the  assessment  of  the  risks  of 
material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, 
the  auditor  considers  internal  control  relevant  to  the  entity’s  preparation  and  fair  presentation  of  the  financial 
statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. 
An  audit  also  includes  evaluating  the  appropriateness  of  accounting  policies  used  and  the  reasonableness  of 
significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial 
statements. 

We believe that  the audit evidence we have obtained  is  sufficient and appropriate  to provide a basis  for our audit 
opinions. 

Opinions 
In  our  opinion,  the  financial  statements  referred  to  above  present  fairly,  in  all  material  respects,  the  respective 
financial position of the governmental activities, the discretely presented component unit, each major fund, and the 
aggregate remaining fund information of the City as of September 30, 2019, and the respective changes in financial 
position for the year then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of 
America.  

Limited  comparative  information  is  included  in  the  accompanying  financial  statement  that  are  not  covered  in  the 
scope of our audit.  

DRAFT



  

Other Matters 
Required Supplementary Information 
Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management’s discussion 
and analysis and the schedules listed in the table of contents as “required supplementary information” be presented 
to supplement the basic financial statements. Such information, although not a part of the basic financial statements, 
is  required by  the Governmental Accounting Standards Board, who considers  it  to be an essential part of  financial 
reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context. We 
have  applied  certain  limited  procedures  to  the  required  supplementary  information  in  accordance  with  auditing 
standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the 
methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for consistency with management’s responses 
to  our  inquiries,  the  basic  financial  statements,  and  other  knowledge  we  obtained  during  our  audit  of  the  basic 
financial statements. We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the limited 
procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance. 

Other Information 
Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively comprise 
the City’s basic financial statements. The accompanying supplementary information as listed in the table of contents 
is presented for purposes of additional analysis and is not a required part of the basic financial statements.  

The accompanying supplementary information as listed in the table of contents is the responsibility of management 
and was derived from and relate directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic 
financial statements. Such information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic 
financial statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly 
to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements or to the basic financial 
statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in 
the United States of America.  In our opinion, the accompanying supplementary information as  listed in the table of 
contents is fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to the basic financial statements as a whole. 

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards 
In  accordance with Government Auditing  Standards, we have  also  issued our  report  dated DATE PENDING,  on our 
consideration of  the City’s  internal  control  over  financial  reporting  and on our  tests of  its  compliance with  certain 
provisions  of  laws,  regulations,  contracts,  and  grant  agreements  and  other matters.  The  purpose  of  that  report  is 
solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and compliance and the results 
of  that  testing,  and  not  to  provide  an  opinion  on  the  effectiveness  of  the  City’s  internal  control  over  financial 
reporting or on  compliance.  That  report  is  an  integral  part  of  an audit  performed  in  accordance with Government 
Auditing Standards in considering the City’s internal control over financial reporting and compliance. 
 
 
Birmingham, Alabama 
DATE PENDING 

DRAFT



CITY OF MOUNTAIN BROOK, ALABAMA

MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

•

•

•

OVERVIEW OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ECONOMIC FACTORS AND NEXT YEAR'S BUDGET

This narrative overview and analysis of the City’s financial activities as of and for the year
ended September 30, 2019, prepared by the management of the City, is presented to facilitate
the users’ understanding of the annual report and draw attention to items of interest.

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

Assets of the City exceeded its liabilities at September 30, 2019, by $87 million (Total Net
Position). Of this amount, $79 million represents the net book value of the City’s capital
assets including infrastructure and $672,000 is restricted ($238,000 for the Emergency
Communication District and $434,000 for road improvements from the State Shared
Gasoline Tax special revenue funds). The remaining $7.7 million is available for use by
the City to fund future municipal services and to meet its obligations to employees and
creditors.

The Total Net Position increased by $2.9 million in 2019 which includes the net cost of
providing core City Services of  $30.4 million plus $33.3 million in General Revenues.

As of September 30, 2019, the City reported $36.8 million in fund balances, an increase of
$4.7 from 2018. Of the $36.8 million fund balances, $17 million (46%) is reported in the
General Fund, $17.1 million (47%) in the Capital Projects Fund and $2.7 million (7%) in the
Other Governmental Funds.

This discussion and analysis is intended to serve as an introduction to the City’s basic
financial statements. The basic financial statements consist of the 1) government-wide
financial statements, 2) fund financial statements, 3) notes to financial statements, and 4)
certain required supplementary financial information. In addition, the City has included other
supplementary information intended to further enhance the users’ understanding of the City’s
financial position and results of operations.

The City is one of more than thirty suburbs of the City of Birmingham, Alabama. The City's
land area is approximately 13 square miles of which approximately 98% is residential. The
commercial districts are concentrated into five distinct retail villages and an office park
complex.  The population is stable at approximately 20,400.  

7

DRAFT



CITY OF MOUNTAIN BROOK, ALABAMA

MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Government-wide Financial Statements

Fund Financial Statements

The government-wide financial statements are intended to provide an indication of the City’s
finances in a manner similar to the private sector. Accordingly, the government-wide
statements, comprised of the Statement of Net Position and Statement of Activities, have
been prepared using the accrual basis of accounting.

The Statement of Net Position depicts all of the primary government’s assets and liabilities
with the difference between the two reported as Net Position. Over time, changes in net
position may serve as a useful indicator of whether the City’s financial position is improving or
deteriorating.

The Statement of Activities illustrates how the City’s net position changed during the year.
Revenues and expenses reported in the Statement of Activities are recorded when the
underlying event that gave rise to the change occurred as opposed to the timing of the related
cash flow. The focus of the Statement of Activities is on the gross and net cost of the various
governmental activities which are funded by the City’s general tax and other revenues. The
purpose of this statement is to simplify the analysis of the costs of various governmental
services.

The fund financial statements have been prepared under the modified accrual basis of
accounting and their presentation is largely consistent with historical presentations.

A fund is a grouping of related accounts designed to facilitate control over resources that have
been segregated for a specific activity or objective. Fund accounting is used to ensure and
demonstrate compliance with finance-related legal requirements. All of the City’s funds are
governmental type funds (as opposed to business-type funds) whose primary resources are
provided by taxes.

The City's revenues are relatively stable and expected to increase modestly in the future with
incremental gains attributable to regional economic growth and ongoing redevelopment of
commercial and residential properties. The growth in General Fund revenues for the year
ending September 30, 2019 was 6.2% greater than the actual realized for the year ended
September 30, 2018.

The residents of the City have expressed high satisfaction in a recent survey with respect to
the services and amenities offered by the City. Accordingly, programs and activities and the
costs associates with governmental operations are stable. Budgeted General Fund
expenditures for 2020 are estimated to increase 6.6% above the actual incurred for the year
ended September 30, 2019

8

DRAFT



CITY OF MOUNTAIN BROOK, ALABAMA

MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Governmental Funds

Infrastructure Capital Assets

Useful Accumulated 
 Life Cost Depreciation Depreciation 

N/A 16,525,671$   N/A N/A
20 21,192,889     591,785$         15,417,459$    
20 14,181,401     677,096           7,450,172        
15 17,092,690     735,602           10,834,059      
20 9,459,441       291,480           6,494,499        
15 1,617,629       60,858             1,247,965        

Library reference
 materials 5 5,592,241       341,703           4,716,530        

    Totals 85,661,962$   2,698,524$      46,160,684$    

Government-wide Financial Analysis

Storm sewers

Street lights and signs

Sidewalks

Following is a condensed financial analysis of the government-wide net position of the City as
of September 30:

Streets and alleys

Park facilities

Land (easements)

Governmental funds essentially measure and report the same activities and transactions as
the governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements. However, unlike the
accrual basis government-wide statements, the governmental funds focus on current,
spendable resources and balances of such spendable resources available at the end of the
year.

The City maintains twelve (12) governmental funds. The City considers the General Fund and
Capital Projects Fund (which is comprised of three “sub-funds”) to be major funds and their
respective balance sheets and statements of revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund
balance are separately reported. Information from the remaining funds (various Special
Revenue funds and the Debt Service fund) have been aggregated and reported in a single
column titled "Other Governmental Funds". Additional information about these aggregated,
non-major funds and the major funds is provided in the other supplementary information.

In 2003, the City capitalized its infrastructure assets based on historical financial cost data
maintained by the City and other estimation techniques (primarily involving non-depreciable
land, easements, and rights-of-way). Depreciation of infrastructure was determined using the
straight-line method from the year of acquisition using estimated useful lives ranging between
10 and 75 years depending on the class of asset. Infrastructure capitalized and the related
depreciation reported in the accompanying government-wide financial statements is as
follows:

9

DRAFT



CITY OF MOUNTAIN BROOK, ALABAMA

MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

           2019            2018 

Current assets 39,521,669$    34,994,228$    
Capital assets 79,033,394      81,197,015      
Deferred outflows of resources 9,052,333        8,508,212        

Total assets and deferred outflows of resources 127,607,396    124,699,455    

Current and other liabilities 2,687,137        2,873,640        
Long-term liabilities 3,254,195        3,136,531        
Net pension liability (Note 5) 27,949,688      27,989,580      
Net OPEB liability (Note 6) 2,904,202        2,938,159        
Deferred inflows of resources 3,414,122        3,271,421        

Total liabilities and deferred inflows of resources 40,209,344      40,209,331      

Net position:
Net investment in capital assets 79,033,394      81,197,015      
Restricted 671,512           887,717           
Unrestricted 7,693,146        2,405,392        

Total net position 87,398,052$    84,490,124$    

           2019            2018 

Revenues
Program revenues
   Fees, fines and charges for services 7,497,857$      7,136,261$      
   Operating grants and contributions 1,272,935        1,095,238        
   Capital grants and contributions 1,598,685        1,635,237        
General revenues
   Ad valorem taxes (real and personal property) 17,448,441      16,857,432      
   Sales and use taxes 11,890,474      11,256,511      
   Other taxes 503,486           469,161           
   Utility taxes 1,362,195        1,266,010        
   Franchise fees 630,040           615,833           
   Investment earnings 1,311,115        133,409           
   Gain (loss) on disposals of capital assets 85,921             162,973           
   Miscellaneous revenues 40,751             23,719             
   Transfers from component unit 70,841             75,626             

Total revenues 43,712,741      40,727,410      

Following is a summary analysis of the government-wide revenues and expenses:

10

DRAFT



CITY OF MOUNTAIN BROOK, ALABAMA

MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Expenses
General government 7,049,750        7,479,826        
Public safety 18,091,141      18,332,913      
Street and sanitation 10,155,540      9,514,466        
Recreational 1,985,499        1,710,629        
Library 3,522,883        3,126,560        

Total expenses 40,804,813      40,164,394      

Increase in net position 2,907,928        563,016           
Net position, beginning of year as originally reported 84,490,124      89,333,847      

Prior period adjustments (2018) 0                      (5,406,739)       

Net position, beginning of year as restated 84,490,124      83,927,108      

Net position, end of year 87,398,052$    84,490,124$    

Analysis of the City’s Operations

Revenues
The City's primary source of revenue is real estate taxes which comprised 40% of total
General Fund revenues in 2019. Real estate taxes increased $609,000 (3.9%) during 2019
largely due to revaluations but also by $60,000 due to the satisfaction of an annexation
incentive commitment in 2018 (Note 9).

The chart below depicts the historical trends of the City's General Fund revenue and Fund
Balance:

 $0

 $5

 $10

 $15

 $20

 $25

 $30

 $35

 $40

 $45

M
ill

io
n

s General Fund Revenue and Fund Balance
Years Ended September 30

Budget Actual Fund Balance

Compound annual  growth rate:
Revenue  . . . . . . . . .2.2%
Fund Balance  . . . .  9.5%

Great
Recession

11

DRAFT



CITY OF MOUNTAIN BROOK, ALABAMA

MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Increase
          2019            2018 (Decrease)

Real estate ad valorem tax 16,179,118$   15,570,510$    608,608$         
Sales and use tax 11,041,853     10,703,490      338,363           
Business licenses 2,995,790       2,991,535        4,255               
Personal property ad valorem tax 1,269,323       1,286,922        (17,599)            
Construction permits 1,501,218       1,160,304        340,914           
Utility taxes 1,362,195       1,266,010        96,185             
Fine and forfeitures 461,595          514,978           (53,383)            
Investment earnings 575,961          183,834           392,127           
All other General Fund revenues 5,306,253       4,638,846        667,407           

Totals 40,693,306$   38,316,429$    2,376,877$      

The second largest source of revenue for the City is sales and use tax which totaled 27% of
total General Fund revenues in 2019. Sales and use tax revenue increased by $338,000
(3.2%) during 2019.

Following is a comparative summary of the major General Fund revenues as reported in the
Governmental Funds financial statements:

Construction permits increased by $341,000 (29%) due to increased building activity
throughout the City combined with a $1 increase in the permit fee. (The permit fee was
increased from $9 to $10 per $1,000 of construction value or 11%.)

Investment earnings increased by $392,000 (213%) due to interest rate reductions
experienced in 2019 which increased the valuations of the City's fixed income securities
effectively reversing unrealized losses experienced in previous years when interest rates
rising.

12

DRAFT



CITY OF MOUNTAIN BROOK, ALABAMA

MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Expenditures

Increase
          2019            2018 (Decrease)

Salaries and benefits 22,942,809$   21,936,793$    1,006,016$      
Excess pension contribution 638,000          610,000           28,000             
Garbage contract fees 2,870,694       2,870,506        188                  
Capital outlay 3,498,940       7,382,669        (3,883,729)       
Intergovernmental services 973,991          997,561           (23,570)            
Utilities and communication 933,769          913,475           20,294             
Development agreement payments 1,227,363       1,315,764        (88,401)            
Property and casualty insurance 270,337          259,394           10,943             
Legal and accounting 424,064          440,559           (16,495)            
Fuel and lubricants 266,158          282,336           (16,178)            
Birmingham Zoo, Inc. subsidy 10,000            20,000             (10,000)            
All other 4,942,672       4,894,555        48,117             

Totals 38,998,797$   41,923,612$    (2,924,815)$     

•

General Budgetary Highlights (budgets are administered based on, and variances are
stated in terms of, the Governmental Fund accounting model)
Following is a summary of the pertinent General Fund budget variances:

Actual General Fund revenue exceeded the final budgeted revenue by $1.3 million (3.4%).
The favorable (unfavorable) budget variance was comprised of the following:

Salaries and benefits increased $1.03 million (5%) in 2019 to $23.6 million. Labor-related
costs made up (59%) of the City's total General Fund expenditures (including intrafund
transfers) in 2019. Following is a comparative summary of the major expenditure categories
(all funds combined) of the City as reported in the Governmental Funds financial statements.

13

DRAFT



CITY OF MOUNTAIN BROOK, ALABAMA

MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Favorable
 Budget  Actual (Unfavorable)

Real estate tax 15,927,000$   16,179,118$    252,118$         
Sales and use tax 11,023,000     11,041,853      18,853             
Sales and use tax (county administered) 413,000          472,032           59,032             
Sales and use tax (state-shopping) 180,000          376,589           196,589           
Lodging tax 540,000          694,827           154,827           
Personal property taxes 1,376,957       1,269,323        (107,634)          
Other taxes 1,021,300       1,072,066        50,766             
Utility taxes 1,266,000       1,362,195        96,195             
Road and bridge tax 647,000          671,896           24,896             
Construction permits 1,197,000       1,501,218        304,218           
Fines and forfeitures 534,700          461,595           (73,105)            
Charges for services 759,947          767,403           7,456               
Fees for road repairs 40,000            13,127             (26,873)            
Grants 13,068            96,880             83,812             
Investment earnings 145,880          575,961           430,081           
All other 4,282,470       4,137,223        (145,247)          

Totals 39,367,322$   40,693,306$    1,325,984$      

•

Favorable
 Budget  Actual (Unfavorable)

Salaries and benefits 24,150,982$   23,580,809$    570,173$         
Garbage contract fees 2,844,000       2,870,694        (26,694)            
Intergovernmental services 1,004,500       973,991           30,509             
Utilities and communication 925,808          933,769           (7,961)              
Development agreement payments 1,408,750       1,227,363        181,387           
Fuel and lubricants 316,700          266,158           50,542             
Fleet and equipment maintenance 313,750          266,121           47,629             

266,000          424,064           (158,064)          
Property and casualty insurance 266,550          270,337           (3,787)              
Employee development and travel 381,150          304,710           76,440             
Traffic studies 40,000            67,078             (27,078)            
Street striping 225,000          179,002           45,998             
Street cut repairs 100,000          126,321           (26,321)            
All other 2,567,968       2,461,600        106,368           

Totals 34,811,158$   33,952,017$    859,141$         

Total General Fund expenditures were $859,000 (2.5%) less than the final budget. The
favorable (unfavorable) budget variance was comprised largely of the following categories:

Legal and accounting (financial and
   revenue compliance)

14

DRAFT



CITY OF MOUNTAIN BROOK, ALABAMA

MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

•

•

Other Matters of Interest
Pension Plan

Percentage of
Pensionable

Year Amount Wages
2001  $    2,000,000 21.5%              
2007        7,000,000 57.8%              
2008           300,000 2.4%                
2017           600,000 4.0%                
2018           610,000 3.9%                
2019           638,000 4.0%                
2020 Budgeted           640,000 4.0%                

Total  $  11,788,000 

Total operating transfers out exceeded the amount budgeted by $1,448,000. This variance
resulted largely from the Council's decision (after year-end) to transfer an additional $1
milion from the General Fund to the Capital Projects Fund and $268,000 from the General
Fund to the Debt Service Fund.

The total excess of General Fund revenues and other financing sources over expenditures
in the amount of $925,000 was $708,000 more than budgeted.

As more fully described in Note 5 to the Financial Statements, the City participates in an agent
multi-employer, defined benefit pension plan which is administered by the Employees’
Retirement System of Alabama (RSA). The most recent actuarial valuation data available is
as of and for the year ended September 30, 2018.

As of September 30, 2018, the RSA reported the actuarial value of plan assets to be $58.7
million and the actuarial accrued liability to be $89.6 million resulting in an unfunded actuarial
accrued liability of $30.9 million. The actuarial value of assets was $1.9 million less than the
market value of assets as of September 30, 2018.

Additionally, the City Council has authorized the accumulation of cash reserves in the Debt
Service Fund which is available to pay toward this (or other) obligation(s). As of September
30, 2019, the City had accumulated $2 million in the Debt Service Fund.

To address concerns about the unfunded actuarial accrued pension liability, the City Council
has often contributed more than the actuarially determined required contribution (ARC).
Following are the City's deposits to the pension trust in excess of the ARC:

15

DRAFT



CITY OF MOUNTAIN BROOK, ALABAMA

MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Other Post-Employment Benefits

Cash and Temporary Investments

 Unrestricted  Restricted 

General Fund 16,812,126$    243,148$         
Capital Projects Fund 17,119,513      0                      
Other Governmental Funds (Debt Service) 2,044,044        0                      
Other Governmental Funds (Special Revenue) 619,537           0                      
Section 115 irrevocable, retiree medical trust 0                      3,352,445        
Discretely presented component unit 0                      4,797,097        

Totals 36,595,220$    8,392,690$      

Capital Assets and Related Replacement Reserves

As more fully described in Note 6 to the Financial Statements, the City provides continuing
medical benefits to qualifying retirees. The City's funding policy is to fund the net cost of
retiree medical benefits, related trust operating expenses and deposit additional funds into an
irrevocable trust restricted for future benefits.  For the year ended September 30, 2019, the net 
cost of retiree medical benefits and related trust expenses paid by the City totaled $354,303.
The City deposited an additional $300,000 into the trust. As of September 30, 2019, the City
reported an actuarial accrued liability of $6.3 million and actuarial value of trust assets of $3.4
million for an unfunded actuarial accrued liability of $2.9 million (excluding deferred inflows
and outflows).

Regarding capital assets, the City Council has adopted a policy of (partially) funding its
depreciation expense in order to accumulate reserve funds for the eventual replacement of
property, plant and equipment. As of September 30, 2019, the City had accumulated
approximately $17.1 million in the Capital Projects Fund for such purpose. Accumulated
depreciation (considered by management to be the benchmark with respect to measuring the
funding status of the property, plant and equipment replacement reserves) totaled $78.5
million as of year-end. Following is a summary of the capital expenditures, depreciation
expense and transfers to the Capital Projects Fund for the years ended September 30:

The $16.8 million General Fund cash and investment balance as of September 30, 2019,
represents approximately 6 months of General Fund expenditures (excluding intrafund
transfers).

As of September 30, 2019, the City reported cash and temporary investments of $36.8 million
(excluding the cash and investments held by the Other Post-Employment Benefits (OPEB)
trust and discretely presented component unit) which consisted of unrestricted and donor-
restricted cash and temporary investments of $36.6 million and $243,000, respectively.
Following is a summary of the carrying value of the cash and investments by fund as of
September 30, 2019, including the OPEB trust and discretely presented component unit.

16

DRAFT



CITY OF MOUNTAIN BROOK, ALABAMA

MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

           2019            2018 
Capital expenditures 3,498,940$      7,382,669$      

Depreciation expense 5,662,561$      5,447,702$      

Transfers to the Capital Projects Fund: 
Funded depreciation policy 2,656,200$      2,413,200$      
Other transfers to fund current and future
    capital acquisitions 2,505,847        1,602,960        

Totals 5,162,047$      4,016,160$      

           2019            2018 

Revenues 
State shared gasoline tax revenues 413,015$         406,099$         
Alabama Trust Fund Earnings 185,155           175,337           
Transfers from the City’s General Fund 125,000           150,000           
Investment earnings 13,191             1,571               

Total Revenues 736,361           733,007           
Street paving expenditures 960,456           424,427           

Excess of Revenues Over Expenditures (224,095)          308,580           
Fund balance, beginning of the year 657,886           349,306           

Fund Balance, end of year 433,791$         657,886$         

Requests for Additional Information
The financial report is designed to provide the residents of the City, investors, creditors and
other users with a general overview of the City’s finances. Inquiries about this report or
requests for additional information may be directed to the Director of Finance at the City of
Mountain Brook, P. O. Box 130009, Mountain Brook, Alabama 35213-0009. Inquiries about
The Emmet O’Neal Library Board and/or The Mountain Brook Library Foundation (the
discretely presented component unit) may be directed to the Library Director at 50 Oak Street,
Mountain Brook, Alabama 35213.

The City maintains approximately 185 miles of paved roadways and alleys. The state shared
gasoline tax revenues, the City’s allocation of the Alabama Trust Fund Earnings, and other
monies transferred from the General Fund are used to fund the City’s street maintenance
program. Following is a summary of the revenues and expenditures as they pertain to the
maintenance of the City’s roadways:

17

DRAFT



This page is blank intentionally.

DRAFT



City of Mountain Brook, Alabama
Government-wide Statement of Net Position

September 30, 2019

 Governmental Activities 

 Component 

Unit Library 

Foundation 

2019 2018 2019

ASSETS

CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and temporary investments 36,595,220$      32,162,558$      0$                      
Receivables 2,437,264          2,318,579          0                        
Due from related organization 4,144                 0                        0                        
Inventory and prepaid expenses 241,893             272,893             0                        

Cash and temporary investments - restricted 243,148             240,198             4,797,097          

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 39,521,669        34,994,228        4,797,097          

NONCURRENT ASSETS
Capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation 57,197,479        60,239,226        83,563               
Land 20,190,123        19,914,153        552,611             

Construction in progress 1,645,792          1,043,636          0                        

TOTAL NONCURRENT ASSETS 79,033,394        81,197,015        636,174             

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES

Differences between expected and actual:
OPEB trust investment earnings and experience 1,939,242          1,561,605          0                        
Pension plan investment earnings and experience 1,442,601          1,338,276          0                        

Change in pension plan assumptions 2,927,253          3,237,082          0                        

Employer pension contributions subsequent to the 

measurement date 2,743,237          2,371,249          0                        

TOTAL DEFERRED OUTFLOWS

OF RESOURCES 9,052,333          8,508,212          0                        

TOTAL ASSETS AND DEFERRED

OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES 127,607,396      124,699,455      5,433,271          

LIABILITIES
CURRENT LIABILITIES

Accounts payable 858,740             1,129,192          0                        
Accrued salaries and wages 1,051,272          994,798             0                        
Due to related organization 60,150               61,134               0                        

Other current liabilities 716,975             688,516             0                        

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES 2,687,137          2,873,640          0                        

NONCURRENT LIABILITIES
Compensated absences 3,254,195          3,136,531          0                        

TOTAL NONCURRENT LIABILITIES 3,254,195          3,136,531          0                        

NET PENSION LIABILITY (NOTE 5) 27,949,688        27,989,580        

NET OPEB LIABILITY (NOTE 6) 2,904,202          2,938,159          0                        

NET PENSION AND OPEB LIABILITIES 30,853,890        30,927,739        0                        

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Change in OPEB assumptions 725,468             768,143             0                        
OPEB trust Investment gain and loss 47,877               0                        0                        

Differences between projected and actual earnings

on pension plan investments and experience 2,640,777          2,503,278          0                        

TOTAL DEFERRED INFLOWS

     OF RESOURCES 3,414,122          3,271,421          0                        

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND DEFERRED

INFLOWS OF RESOURCES 40,209,344        40,209,331        0                        

NET POSITION
Net investment in capital assets 79,033,394        81,197,015        636,174             
Restricted 671,512             887,717             4,797,097          

Unrestricted 7,693,146          2,405,392          0                        

TOTAL NET POSITION 87,398,052$      84,490,124$      5,433,271$        

See accompanying notes to basic financial statements.

19

DRAFT



Fees, Fines Operating Capital Grants
and Charges Grants and and

Expenses  for Services  Contributions  Contributions 

 Governmental activities:
     General government 7,049,750$      4,151,067$      1,103,489$      0$                             
     Public safety 18,091,141      3,006,146        0                      0                               
     Street and sanitation 10,155,540      65,896             73,647             1,459,063                 
     Recreational 1,985,499        227,078           82,566             60,968                      
     Library 3,522,883        47,670             13,233             78,654                      

Total 40,804,813$    7,497,857$      1,272,935$      1,598,685$               

Component unit:

   Library Foundation 81,620$           0$                    180,388$         0$                             

General revenues:

Taxes:
    Ad valorem (real and personal property)
    Sales and use
    Other taxes
Utility taxes
Franchise fees
Investment earnings (losses)
Gain on sale/disposal of capital assets
Miscellaneous revenues

Transfers

                  Total general revenues and transfers

                  Change in net position

Net assets at beginning of year, as originally reported
Prior period adjustments (2018)

Net position at beginning of year, as restated

Net position at end of year

City of Mountain Brook, Alabama

Government-wide Statement of Activities

For the Year Ended September 30, 2019

Program Revenues

 Program Activities

See accompanying notes to basic financial statements.

20

DRAFT



2018 2018
Total Net Total Net
(Expense) (Expense)

Revenue and Revenue and Component Component
Changes in Changes in Unit (Library Unit (Library

  Net Position   Net Position  Foundation)   Foundation)  

(1,795,194)$    (2,490,586)$    0$                   0$                   
(15,084,995)    (15,625,158)    0                     0                     

(8,556,934)      (7,811,349)      0                     0                     
(1,614,887)      (1,346,933)      0                     0                     
(3,383,326)      (3,023,632)      0                     0                     

(30,435,336)$  (30,297,658)$  

98,768$          31,691$          

17,448,441     16,857,432     0                     0                     
11,890,474     11,256,511     0                     0                     

503,486          469,161          0                     0                     
1,362,195       1,266,010       0                     0                     

630,040          615,833          0                     0                     
1,311,115       133,409          127,913          219,041          

85,921            162,973          0                     0                     
40,751            23,719            0                     0                     
70,841            75,626            (70,841)           (75,626)           

33,343,264     30,860,674     57,072            143,415          

2,907,928       563,016          155,840          175,106          

84,490,124     89,333,847     5,277,431       5,102,325       
0                     (5,406,739)      0                     0                     

84,490,124     83,927,108     5,277,431       5,102,325       

87,398,052$   84,490,124$   5,433,271$     5,277,431$     

DRAFT



City of Mountain Brook, Alabama
Balance Sheet

Governmental Funds
September 30, 2019

Other Total
Capital Governmental Governmental

General Projects Funds Funds

ASSETS    
 Cash and temporary investments 16,812,126$    17,119,513$    2,663,581$      36,595,220$    
 Cash and temporary 
 investments - restricted 243,148           0                      0                      243,148           
 Receivables 2,194,813        172,671           69,780             2,437,264        

Due from related organizations 4,144               0                      0                      4,144               
 Inventory and prepaid expenses 213,555           28,338             0                      241,893           
 

TOTAL ASSETS 19,467,786$    17,320,522$    2,733,361$      39,521,669$    

LIABILITIES
 Accounts payable 670,075$         170,850$         17,815$           858,740$         
 Accrued salaries and wages 1,051,272        0                      0                      1,051,272        
 Due to related organizations 60,150             0                      0                      60,150             

 Other liabilities 716,975           0                      0                      716,975           

 

TOTAL LIABILITIES 2,498,472        170,850           17,815             2,687,137        

PENSION OBLIGATION (NOTE 5)
OPEB OBLIGATION (NOTE 6)

FUND BALANCES
 Nonspendable 213,555           28,338             0                      241,893           
 Restricted 0                      0                      671,512           671,512           
 Committed 51,930             17,121,334      0                      17,173,264      
 Assigned 170,764           0                      2,044,044        2,214,808        

 Unassigned 16,533,065      0                      (10)                   16,533,055      

TOTAL FUND BALANCES 16,969,314      17,149,672      2,715,546        36,834,532      

TOTAL LIABILITIES

    AND FUND BALANCES 19,467,786$    17,320,522$    2,733,361$      39,521,669$    

See accompanying notes to basic financial statements

21

DRAFT



Fund balance - total governmental funds 36,834,532$    

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the 
statement of net position are different because:

Governmental capital assets 157,520,049$  
Less accumulated depreciation (78,486,655)     79,033,394      

Deferred outflows of resources:

1,939,242        

1,442,601        
2,927,253        

2,743,237        9,052,333        

(27,949,688)     

(2,904,202)       

Deferred inflows of resources:
(725,468)          

OPEB trust Investment gain and loss (47,877)            

(1,975,591)       

(665,186)          (3,414,122)       

Compensated absences (3,254,195)       

Net position of governmental activities 87,398,052$    

City of Mountain Brook, Alabama
Reconciliation of the Governmental Funds Balance Sheet to the 

Statement of Net Position
September 30, 2019

Differences between expected and actual earnings on 
pension plan experience

Employer pension contributions subsequent to the 
measurement date

Long-term liabilities are not due and payable in the current 
period and therefore, they are not reported in the 
governmental funds balance sheet

Capital assets used in governmental activities are not 
current financial resources and therefore are not reported 
in the governmental funds balance sheet

Net pension liability is not due and payable in the current 
period and therefore, not reported in the governmental 
funds balance sheet

Change in pension plan assumptions

Differences between expected and actual earnings on 
OPEB trust investments and experience

Change in OPEB assumptions

Net difference  between projected and actual earnings 
on pension plan investments

Net OPEB liability is not due and payable in the current 
period and therefore, not reported in the governmental 
funds balance sheet

Difference between pension plan expected and actual 
experience

See accompanying notes to basic financial statements.

22

DRAFT



City of Mountain Brook, Alabama
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances

Governmental Funds
Year Ended September 30, 2019

Capital
General Projects

Revenues:   
Taxes 33,139,900$    $                  0 
Licenses and permits 5,196,898       0 
Intergovernmental 160,291 0 
Charges for services 767,403          0 
Fines and forfeitures 461,595          0 
Grants 96,880            307,701          

Other operating revenues 870,339          674,129          

Total revenues 40,693,306      981,830          

Expenditures:   
 Current (operating):

General government 6,722,502       379,779          
Public safety 15,870,133      950,324          
Street and sanitation 6,741,476       1,252,928       
Recreational 1,347,910       558,997          

Library 3,269,996       96,695            

Total expenditures 33,952,017      3,238,723       

Excess (deficiency) of revenues

  over expenditures 6,741,289       (2,256,893)      

Other financing sources (uses):
Operating transfers in 0                     5,162,047       
Operating transfers (out) (5,997,275)      0                     
Operating transfers in - component unit 70,841            0                     
Proceeds from the sale of assets 0                     85,921            
Donations 110,251          553,193          

Total other financing sources (uses) (5,816,183)      5,801,161       

Excess of revenues and other financing sources
over expenditures and other financing uses 925,106          3,544,268       

Fund balances, beginning of year 16,044,208      13,605,404      

FUND BALANCES, END OF YEAR 16,969,314$    17,149,672$    

See accompanying notes to basic financial statements.

23

DRAFT



 
 
 
 

Other Total
Governmental Governmental

Funds Funds

 
413,015$        33,552,915$    

0 5,196,898 
0 160,291 

431,935 1,199,338 
126,269 587,864 

0 404,581 
246,180          1,790,648       

1,217,399       42,892,535      

 

345,777          7,448,058 
501,824          17,322,281 
960,456          8,954,860 

0                     1,906,907 
0                     3,366,691       

1,808,057       38,998,797      

(590,658)         3,893,738       

835,228          5,997,275       
0                     (5,997,275)      
0                     70,841            

0                     85,921            
0                     663,444          

835,228          820,206          

244,570          4,713,944       

2,470,976       32,120,588      

2,715,546$      36,834,532$    

DRAFT



City of Mountain Brook, Alabama
Reconciliation of the Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund 
Balance of Governmental Funds to the Government-wide Statement of Activities

September 30, 2019

Net change in fund balances - total governmental funds 4,713,944$      

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement
of activities are different because:

Governmental funds report capital outlays as expenditures.
However, in the government-wide statement of activities,
the cost of those assets is allocated over their estimated
useful lives as depreciation expense.

Expenditures for capital assets 3,498,940$      
Less current year depreciation (5,662,561)       (2,163,621)       

377,637           

104,325           

(309,829)          
371,988           544,121           

Change in long-term compensated absences (117,664)          

39,892             

33,957             

(42,675)            

47,877             

137,499           (142,701)          

Change in net position of governmental activities 2,907,928$      

liability

The effect of the net increase (decrease) in deferred
outflows of resources

Change in assumptions

Differences between expected and actual earnings 

The effect of the net (increase) decrease in the pension

Differences between expected and actual earnings

Employer contributions subsequent to the

     experience
     on OPEB trust investment earnings and 

      on pension plan investments and experience

     measurement date

     on pension plan investments and experience

The effect of the net (increase) decrease in the deferred

inflows of resources

The effect of the net (increase) decrease in the OPEB

liability

Change in OPEB assumptions

Differences between projected and actual earnings 

OPEB Trust investment gain and loss

See accompanying notes to basic financial statements.

24

DRAFT



City of Mountain Brook, Alabama
Statement of Fiduciary Net Position

Other Post-Employment Benefits Trust Fund
September 30

2019 2018

ASSETS
Certificates of deposit, at fair value 3,352,445$  2,886,328$  

     TOTAL ASSETS 3,352,445    2,886,328    

LIABILITIES
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 0                  0                  

     TOTAL LIABILITIES 0                  0                  

     NET POSITION RESTRICTED FOR
          OTHER POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS 3,352,445$  2,886,328$  

See accompanying notes to basic financial statements.

25

DRAFT



City of Mountain Brook, Alabama
Statement of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position

Other Post-Employment Benefits Trust Fund
Year Ended September 30

2019 2018

ADDITIONS
Contributions
  Employer 654,303$     648,392$     
  Plan members 132,677       127,956       
Investment earnings 166,117       (12,392)        

     TOTAL ADDITIONS 953,097       763,956       

DEDUCTIONS
Benefits 483,980       471,348       
Administrative expense 3,000           5,000           

     TOTAL DEDUCTIONS 486,980       476,348       

     NET INCREASE IN NET POSITION 466,117       287,608       

Net position restricted for other post-employment
  benefits, beginning of year 2,886,328    2,598,720    

     NET POSITION RESTRICTED FOR OTHER 
       POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS, END OF YEAR 3,352,445$  2,886,328$  

See accompanying notes to basic financial statements.

26

DRAFT



City of Mountain Brook, Alabama

Notes to Financial Statements

1. Summary of significant accounting policies

A. Accounting and reporting

B. Related organizations

In 2016, the City renegotiated the three (3) fields and facilities use and maintenance agreements between the City
and Mountain Brook Athletics, Mountain Brook Soccer and Mountain Brook Lacrosse. Under the terms of the new
agreements, Mountain Brook Athletics, Mountain Brook Soccer and Mountain Brook Lacrosse shall pay the City
$60,261, $45,141, and $6,955, respectively, annually through December 31, 2021. The agreements shall renew
automatically for one year terms not to exceed the expiration of master lease term between the City and Mountain
Brook Board of Education.  The above fees shall be increased by 10% every five years.

The City of Mountain Brook, Alabama (the City) was incorporated on March 24, 1942. The City operates under the
Council-Manager form of government organized to comply with the provisions of Title 11, Chapter 43, Sections 20-22
of the Code of Alabama 1975, as amended. The City Council is composed of five officials all of whom are elected at-
large. The members of the City Council and Mayor hold office for four year terms. The terms of office for the elected
officials are staggered (beginning in October 2004) with Council places 1, 3, and 5 up for election in even years and
Council places 2 and 4 and the Mayor’s office up for election in odd years. The next election is scheduled for August
25, 2020. The City Manager is appointed by the City Council as the executive officer to serve at the will and
pleasure of that body. The Mayor and members of the City Council receive no salary or other compensation for their
service to the City.

The City of Mountain Brook, Alabama complies with generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP). GAAP
includes all relevant Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) pronouncements. The City has elected to
present comparative information in the notes to financial statements to enhance the users' understanding of the
City's financial position and operations.

The City is also responsible for appointing the Board of Trustees of the Mountain Brook Board of Education (the
Board). However, the City has no control or influence in the presentation or adoption of the Board's annual operating
budget; the City is not responsible for any budget deficits incurred by the Board; and the Board has the authority to
issue debt securities which are neither secured by the City's revenues or obligations of the City. Accordingly, the
financial statements of the Board are not presented in the accompanying financial statements because the City is
not considered to be financially accountable for the Board.

For the years ended September 30, 2019 and 2018, the City reported revenue from the Board in the amount of
$160,291 and $185,943, respectively, representing the Board's share of community athletic fields maintenance
provided by the City and the Board's reimbursement in 2017 of field improvement costs paid by the City in the
amount of $93,744. The outstanding receivables from the Board as of September 30, 2019 and 2018 were $4,144
and -0-, respectively.

In 1998, the City agreed to serve as the fiscal agent for the third phase of the Board's improvements to the
community athletic fields. The improvements totaling approximately $1 million were financed through the issuance
of Series 1998-A general obligation warrants. The athletic fields are maintained by the City's Parks and Recreation
Department. The routine maintenance of the fields are shared by the City (1/3), the Board (1/3), two unaffiliated local
athletic groups - Mountain Brook Athletics, Inc. (1/6), and Mountain Brook Soccer Club, Inc. (1/6).   

The City receives 36.7 mills of the 99.0 mill property tax (Note 1.S.) from Jefferson County. From the 36.7 mills, the
City transfers 10.6 mills to the Board. For financial reporting purposes, the City includes the net property tax of 26.1
mills in its General Fund revenues. At September 30, 2019 and 2018, the City owed the Board $60,150 and
$61,134, respectively, for its share of property taxes which is included in other liabilities of the General Fund.

27

DRAFT



City of Mountain Brook, Alabama

Notes to Financial Statements

C. Government-wide Financial Statements

D. Fund Financial Statements

1.

2.

The Statement of Net Position and Statement of Activities display information about the reporting government as a
whole. They include all funds of the reporting entity except for fiduciary funds and component units that are fiduciary
in nature.

The statement of activities demonstrates the degree to which the direct expense of a given function or segment are
offset by program revenues. Direct expenses are those that are clearly identifiable with a specific function or
segment. Program revenues include: 1) charges to customers or applicants who purchase, use, or directly benefit
from goods, services, or privileges provided by a given function or segment, and 2) grants and contributions that are
restricted to meeting the operational or capital requirements of a particular function or segment. Taxes and other
items not properly included among program revenues are reported instead as general revenues.

The City may also elect to present a fund as major if it does not meet the above criteria to emphasize the importance
of a certain fund's activity.

Fund financial statements of the reporting entity are organized into funds, each of which is considered to be a
separate accounting entity. Each fund is accounted for in a separate set of self-balancing accounts that constitute
its assets, liabilities, fund equity, revenues, and expenditure/expenses. Funds are organized into three major
categories: governmental, proprietary, and fiduciary (the City had no proprietary funds at year end). An emphasis is
placed on major funds within the governmental categories. A fund is considered major if it is the primary operating
fund of the City or meets the following criteria:

Total assets, liabilities, revenues, or expenditures/expenses of that individual governmental fund are at least ten
percent (10%) of the corresponding total for all funds of that category or type; and

Total assets, liabilities, revenues, or expenditures/expenses of the individual governmental fund are at least five
percent (5%) of the corresponding total for all governmental funds combined.  

The financial position and results of operations of the Foundation are reported as a component unit of the City in the
accompanying government-wide financial statements. A copy of the Foundation's audited financial statements may
be obtained from The Emmet O'Neal Library Board, 50 Oak Street, Mountain Brook, Alabama 35213.

Another related organization is The Mountain Brook Library Foundation ("the Foundation"). The Foundation is a non-
profit organization formed for the benefit of the Emmet O'Neal Library, a department of the City. Several of the
Foundation's Board members are also members of The Emmet O'Neal Library Board. The Foundation has received
contributions from individual, corporate, and private foundations that were utilized to construct, furnish, and equip the
City's library facilities. These facilities were contributed to the City of Mountain Brook in 2001, and are included in
the accompanying financial statements.

The funds of the financial reporting entity are described below:

Governmental activities generally are financed through taxes, intergovernmental revenues, and other non-exchange
revenues.

In 2017, the City agreed to advance the Mountain Brook Board of Education the costs associated with its
improvements to the junior high practice field and the high school baseball field. The total cost of the two projects is
$962,434. The Board entered into an agreement to reimburse the City in the amount of $275,000 payable in
installments of $75,000 on or before December 1, 2017 and $40,000 annually thereafter due on or before December
1 of 2018 through 2022. The City also received commitments from Mountain Brook Athletics and Mountain Brook
Lacrosse to reimburse the City in the aggregate amount of $266,234 payable in annual installments of varying
amounts through 2022. As of September 30, 2018, the City had satisfied the two field improvement contracts. The
City collected and reported as revenue $112,434 and $142,100 during the years ended September 30, 2019 and
2018, respectively, related to these agreements. The receivables related to these agreements totaled $13,516 and
$9,372 as of September 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively.

28

DRAFT



City of Mountain Brook, Alabama

Notes to Financial Statements

Governmental funds
A. General Fund

B. Special Revenue Funds

C. Debt Service Funds

D. Capital Projects Funds

Major and non-major funds

E. Fund Balance

The General Fund is the principal fund of the City and is always classified as a major fund. It is used to account
for all revenues and expenditures applicable to the general operations of city government which are not properly
accounted for in another fund. All general operating revenues which are not restricted or designated as to their
use by outside sources are recorded in the General Fund.

Fund balance is divided into five classifications based primarily on the extent to which the City is bound to observe
constraints imposed upon the use of the resources in the governmental funds. The classifications are as follows:

Nonspendable - The nonspendable fund balance category includes amounts that cannot be spent because they
are not in spendable form, or legally or contractually required to be maintained intact. The “not in spendable form”
criterion includes items that are not expected to be converted to cash. It also includes the long-term amount of
intefund loans, if any.

Restricted - Fund balance is reported as restricted when constraints placed on the use of resources are either
externally imposed by creditors (such as through debt covenants), grantors, contributors, or laws or regulations of
other governments or is imposed by law through constitutional provisions or enabling legislation (City ordinances).

Enabling legislation authorizes the City to assess, levy, charge, or otherwise mandate payment of resources (from
external resource providers) and includes a legally enforceable requirement that those resources be used only for
the specific purposes stipulated in the legislation. Legal enforceability means that the City can be compelled by
an external party such as residents, public interest groups, or the judiciary to use resources created by enabling
legislation only for the purposes specified by the legislation.

Committed - The committed fund balance classification includes amounts that can be used only for the specific
purposes imposed by formal action (ordinance) of the City Council. Those committed amounts cannot be used for
any other purpose unless the City Council removes or changes the specified use by taking the same type of
action (ordinance) it employed to previously commit those amounts. In contrast to fund balance that is restricted
by enabling legislation, the committed fund balance classification may be redeployed for other purposes with
appropriate due process. Constraints imposed on the use of committed amounts are imposed by the City Council,
separate from the authorization to raise the underlying revenue; therefore, compliance with these constraints are
not considered to be legally enforceable. Committed fund balance also incorporates contractual obligations to the
extent that existing resources in the fund have been specifically committed for use in satisfying those contractual
requirements.

The Special Revenue Funds and the Debt Service Fund are classified as non-major and are described above.

Special Revenue Funds are used to account for the proceeds of specific revenue sources that are restricted or
committed to expenditures for specified purposes.

Capital Projects Funds are used to account for, and demonstrate compliance with, legal and contractual
provisions and to compile data related to financial resources to be used for the acquisition or construction of
major fixed assets other than those financed by special assessments.

The General Fund and Capital Projects Funds are classified as major funds and are described above. The City has
elected to present all Capital Projects Funds as major funds to reflect the importance of their activity separately from
other non-major funds regardless of whether these funds meet the reporting criteria described above.

The Debt Service Fund is used to account for financial resources related the City’s debt service. In addition, the
City is accumulating resources in the Debt Service Fund for the possible future repayment (excess funding) of its
unfunded pension obligation (see Note 5).

29

DRAFT



City of Mountain Brook, Alabama

Notes to Financial Statements

Other
Capital Governmental

Fund Balances General Projects Funds Total
Nonspendable:

Prepaid expenses 164,029$       28,338$         0$                  192,367$      
Inventory 49,526           0                    0                    49,526          

Total Nonspendable 213,555         28,338           0                    241,893        

Restricted:
Emergency Communication

District (E911) 0                    0                    237,711         237,711        
State Shared Gasoline Taxes:
   5 Cent 0                    0                    173,047         173,047        
   7 Cent 0                    0                    63,683           63,683          
   4 Cent 0                    0                    183,180         183,180        
   2 Cent 0                    0                    13,891           13,891          

Total Restricted 0                    0                    671,512         671,512        

Committed:
Capital Projects 0                    17,121,334    0                    17,121,334   
Library Endowment 51,930           0                    0                    51,930          

Total Committed 51,930           17,121,334    0                    17,173,264   

Assigned:
Debt Service Fund 0                    0                    2,044,044      2,044,044     
Asset Forfeitures 9,201             0                    0                    9,201            
Library Book Fund 150,593         0                    0                    150,593        
Community Fund 10,970           0                    0                    10,970          

Total Assigned 170,764         0                    2,044,044      2,214,808     

Unassigned - Unassigned fund balance is the residual classification for the General Fund and includes all
spendable amounts not contained in the other classifications. In other governmental funds, the unassigned
classification is used only to report a deficit balance resulting from overspending for specific purposes for which
amounts had been restricted, committed, or assigned.

The constraints placed on fund balance for the major governmental funds and all other governmental funds are
presented below:

The City has established a stabilization (emergency reserve) fund within its General Fund. The emergency reserve
fund is intended to be used in the event of a natural disaster that jeopardizes public safety and that results in
unusual expenditures necessary to provide public safety services that may or may not be reimbursable under federal
or state disaster assistance or relief grant award.  The stabilization fund is included in the unassigned fund balance.

Assigned – Amounts in the assigned fund balance classification are intended to be used by the City for specific
purposes but do not meet the criteria to be classified as restricted or committed. In governmental funds other than
the General Fund, assigned fund balance represents the remaining amount that is not restricted or committed. In
the General Fund, assigned amounts represent intended uses established by City Council or a City official
delegated that authority by City ordinance.

The City applies restricted resources first when expenditures are incurred for purposes for which either restricted or
unrestricted (committed, assigned, and unassigned) amounts are available. Similarly, within unrestricted fund
balance, committed amounts are reduced first followed by assigned, and then unassigned amounts when
expenditures are incurred for purposes for which amounts in any of the unrestricted fund balance classifications
could be used.

30

DRAFT



City of Mountain Brook, Alabama

Notes to Financial Statements

Unassigned
All other unassigned 13,775,447    0                    (10)                 13,775,437   
Emergency Reserve (stabilization) Fund 2,757,618      0                    0                    2,757,618     

Total Unassigned 16,533,065    0                    (10)                 16,533,055   

Total Fund Balances 16,969,314$  17,149,672$  2,715,546$    36,834,532$ 

F. Measurement focus and basis of accounting

Measurement focus

Basis of accounting

G.

H. Worker's compensation

Measurement focus is a term used to describe "which" transactions are recorded within the various financial
statements. Basis of accounting refers to "when" transactions are recorded regardless of the measurement focus
applied.

On the Government-wide Statement of Net Position and the Statement of Activities, governmental activities are
presented using the "economic resources" measurement focus. The accounting objectives of this measurement
focus are the determination of operating income, changes in net position (or cost recovery), financial position, and
cash flows.  All assets and liabilities (whether current or noncurrent) associated with their activities are reported.

In the fund financial statements, the "current financial resources" measurement focus or the "economic resources"
measurement focus is used as appropriate. All governmental funds utilize a "current financial resources"
measurement focus. Only current financial assets and liabilities are generally included on their balance sheets.
Their operating statements present sources and uses of available spendable financial resources during a given
period. These funds use fund balance as their measure of available spendable financial resources at the end of the
period.

In the Government-wide Statement of Net Position and Statement of Activities, governmental activities are presented
using the accrual basis of accounting. Under the accrual basis of accounting, revenues are recognized when earned
and expenses are recorded when the liability is incurred or economic asset used. Revenues, expenses, gains,
losses, assets and liabilities resulting from exchange and exchange-like transactions are recognized when the
exchange takes place.

In the fund financial statements, governmental funds are presented on the modified accrual basis of accounting.
Under this modified accrual basis of accounting, revenues are recognized when "measurable and available".
Measurable means knowing or being able to reasonably estimate the amount. Available means collectible within the
current period or generally within sixty days after year end. Expenditures (including capital outlay) are recorded
when the related fund liability is incurred, except for general obligation bond principal and interest which are reported
when due.

Encumbrances
In the Fund Financial Statements, the City does not utilize encumbrance accounting techniques which means that
fund balances are not committed or assigned upon the issuance of purchase orders. Expenditures are recorded at
the time of a purchase or the incurrence of a liability.

The City provides workers' compensation coverage to its employees as required by law. In February 2017, the City
implemented an insured plan administered by Municipal Workers' Compensation Fund (MWCF) that requires a
$300,000 deductible per claim per year. Effective February 1, 2013, the City implemented a high deductible
insurance program for its workers' compensation program administered by MWCF. The MWCF assumed the
administration of open claims incurred prior to February 1, 2013 when the City was self-insured (with excess loss
coverage). The City's exposure for workers' compensation claims and related administrative fees since February 1,
2013 is as follows:

31

DRAFT



City of Mountain Brook, Alabama

Notes to Financial Statements

Liability Limits
For claims incurred on or after: Specific Aggregate

February 1, 2019 Deductible  $       300,000  None 
February 1, 2018 Deductible           300,000  None 
February 1, 2017 Deductible           300,000  None 
February 1, 2016           300,000          859,553 
February 1, 2015           300,000          854,824 
February 1, 2014           300,000          845,467 
February 1, 2013           250,000          909,034 

I. Cash and temporary investments

J. Receivables

K. Equity classifications
Government-wide Statements
Equity is classified as net position and displayed in three components:

1.

2.

3.

Pursuant to regulations promulgated by the State of Alabama Department of Industrial Relations with respect to self-
insured workers' compensation programs, the City engages an actuary every three years to determine its discounted
total estimated liability for outstanding workers' compensation claims. The actuarial valuation of the discounted total
estimated liability for outstanding claims was $414,257 as of September 30, 2017 and $256,404 as of September 30,
2014. The accompanying financial statements include an estimated accrual of unpaid workers' compensation claims
as of September 30, 2019 and 2018 in the amount of $404,000 and $392,000, respectively. Workers' compensation
cost charged by the City during 2019 and 2018 was approximately $204,000 and $325,000, respectively. 

Prior to February 1, 2013, the City's excess loss coverage paid losses for specific claims over $500,000 and (two-
year) aggregate claims costs over $1,500,983 (limited to $2 million in coverage).

Unrestricted - All other net position that do not meet the definition of "restricted" or "invested in capital assets, net
of related debt".

Cash resources of various funds are combined to form a cash and investment pool. Interest from this pool is
allocated monthly to each fund based on their respective month-end cash and investment balances. Restricted cash
and temporary investments of $243,148 and $240,198 as of September 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively, represent
temporary and permanently restricted funds donated to the Emmet O'Neal Library, a department of the City.

In the government-wide statements, receivables consist of all revenues earned at year-end and not yet received.
Allowances for uncollectible accounts receivable are based upon historical trends and the periodic aging of accounts
receivable. Major receivable balances for the governmental activities include sales and use taxes and road and
bridge taxes.

In the fund financial statements, material receivables in governmental funds include the receivables mentioned in the
preceding paragraph and other similar intergovernmental revenues since they are usually both measurable and
available. Non-exchange transactions collectible but not available are deferred in the fund financial statements in
accordance with modified accrual, but not deferred in the government-wide financial statements in accordance with
the accrual basis. Interest and investment earnings are recorded when earned generally if paid within 60 days since
they would be considered both measurable and available.

Net investment in capital assets - Consists of capital assets including restricted capital assets, net of accumulated
depreciation and reduced by the outstanding balances of any bonds, mortgages, notes, or other borrowings that
are attributable to the acquisition, construction, or improvement of those assets. 

Restricted - Constraints placed on the use either by (1) external groups such as creditors, grantors, contributors,
or laws or regulations of other governments; or (2) law through constitutional provisions or enabling legislation.

32

DRAFT



City of Mountain Brook, Alabama

Notes to Financial Statements

Fund Statements

L. Long-term debt 

M. Compensated absences

N. Longevity pay plan

O. Holiday pay

P. Pension plan

Governmental fund equity is classified as fund balance. Fund balance is further classified in accordance with
section E. of this note.

The accounting treatment of long-term debt depends on whether the assets are reported in the government-wide or
fund financial statements.

All long-term debts to be repaid from governmental resources are reported as liabilities in the government-wide
statements.  The long-term debt consists primarily of bonds payable and accrued compensated absences.

Long-term debt for governmental funds is not reported as a liability in the fund financial statements. The debt
proceeds are reported as other financing sources and payment of principal and interest reported as expenditures.

Full-time City employees earn sick leave at the rate of one day per month of service and may be accumulated and
carried forward from year to year with no maximum amount. Vacation leave is earned at graduated rates based on
length of service (one day per month of service initially, one and one-half days per month of service after twelve
years, and two days per month of service after twenty-five years). Employees are allowed to accumulate up to forty
days of vacation leave.

A retiring employee or separating employee in good standing receives termination pay equivalent to their unused
vacation pay not to exceed forty days. In addition, a retiring employee or separating employee in good standing with
five years of service receives termination pay based on 50% of their accrued sick leave limited to thirty days pay.

The Government-wide Statement of Net Position includes a noncurrent liability for compensated absences in the
amount of $3,254,195 as of September 30, 2019 and $3,136,531 as of September 30, 2018. The City paid nothing
after September 30, 2019 and 2018, with respect to vested compensated absences to employees who retired or
otherwise ended their employment with the City prior to year end. Consequently there are no current liabilities
attributable to compensated absences reported in the Government-Wide Statement of Activities.

The City has a longevity pay plan which covers all full-time employees that have completed a minimum of six years
of service as of September 30. Longevity pay for a qualifying employee is the product of the percentage factor
(which is based on the number of years of completed services) and their annual rate of pay. The percentage factor is
1.5% after six years and increases 0.5% per year to a maximum rate of 8.5% which is attained after twenty years of
service. The plan also limits the City's maximum annual longevity pay to a total of $440,000 in 2019 and 2018. The
City has adopted the informal policy of liquidating the liability for longevity pay in November of each year. The
liability for longevity pay as of September 30, 2019 and September 30, 2018 reported in the Government-Wide and
Fund financial statements totaled $434,233 and $431,599, respectively.

Holiday pay can be accumulated (principally police and fire personnel) up to 80 hours. Accumulations in excess of
80 hours are not permitted and such time is paid to employees as earned.

The Employees’ Retirement System of Alabama (the Plan) financial statements are prepared using the economic
resources measurement focus and accrual basis of accounting. Contributions are recognized as revenues when
earned, pursuant to the plan requirements. Benefits and refunds are recognized when due and payable in
accordance with the terms of the plan. Expenses are recognized when the corresponding liability is incurred,
regardless of when the payment is made. Investments are reported at fair value. Financial statements are prepared
in accordance with requirements of the Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB). Under these
requirements, the Plan is considered a component unit of the State of Alabama and is included in the State’s
Comprehensive Annual Financial Report. (Note 5).

33

DRAFT



City of Mountain Brook, Alabama

Notes to Financial Statements

Q. Other post-employment benefits (OPEB) plan

R. Interfund transactions

Other 
Capital Governmental 

General Projects Funds
Operating transfers in (out):    

Capital transfers for the payment of current
year asset acquisitions and the future
replacement of capital assets (5,162,047)$  5,162,047$    0$                 

Corrections fund transfer to fund operations (293,908)       0                    293,908        
Debt service transfer for the accumulation of

funds for the future repayment of City
obligations (416,320)       0                    416,320        

Gasoline tax fund transfer to supplement the

annual street resurfacing program (125,000)       0                    125,000        

Operating transfers, net (5,997,275)$  5,162,047$    835,228$      

Other 
Capital Governmental 

General Projects Funds
Operating transfers in (out):    

Capital transfers for the payment of current
year asset acquisitions and the future
replacement of capital assets (3,710,206)$  4,016,160$    (305,954)$     

Corrections fund transfer to fund operations (159,806)       0                    159,806        
Debt service transfer for the accumulation of

funds for the future repayment of City
obligations (239,139)       0                    239,139        

Gasoline tax fund transfer to supplement the

annual street resurfacing program (150,000)       0                    150,000        

Operating transfers, net (4,259,151)$  4,016,160$    242,991$      

During the course of normal operations, the City incurs numerous transactions between funds to provide services,
construct or acquire assets, service debt, etc. These transactions are generally reported as operating transfers
except in instances where the transfer represents the reimbursement to a fund for expenditures incurred for the
benefit of another fund. Following is a summary of the operating transfers between funds during the year ended
September 30, 2019:

Interfund receivables and payables between funds within governmental activities are eliminated in the Statement of
Net Position. The purpose of the interfund receivable balance, if any, to non-major governmental funds from the
General fund is for the reimbursement of operating expenditures paid from non-major governmental funds on behalf
of the General fund.

Following is a summary of the operating transfers between funds during the year ended September 30, 2018:

The fiduciary net position of the City of Mountain Brook Section 115 Trust Agreement (the OPEB Plan) has been
determined using the flow of economic resources measurement focus and full accrual basis of accounting. This
includes for purposes of measuring the net OPEB liability, deferred outflow of resources and deferred inflow of
resources related to other post-employment benefits, OPEB expense, and information about assets, liabilities and
additions to/deductions from the OPEB Plan's fiduciary net position. Benefit payments are recognized when due and
payable in accordance with benefit terms.  Investments are reported at fair value. (Note 6).

34

DRAFT



City of Mountain Brook, Alabama

Notes to Financial Statements

S. Property taxes

Residential owner occupant 10%
All other 20%

Amount Per
$100 of

Assessed 
 Mills  Value 

State of Alabama                  6.5  $             0.65 
Jefferson County Commission                13.5                 1.35 
County-wide school tax                  8.2                 0.82 
Mountain Brook Board of Education                44.7                 4.47 
City of Mountain Brook General Fund                26.1                 2.61 

               99.0  $             9.90 

T. Major revenue sources and taxpayers

U. Expenditures/Expenses

In the fund financial statements, expenditures are classified as follows:

Governmental Funds - By Character: Current (further classified by function and includes
    Capital Outlay)

Permanent reallocations of resources between funds of the reporting entity are classified as interfund transfers. For
the purposes of the Statement of Activities, all interfund transfers between individual governmental funds have been
eliminated.

All ad valorem (real property) taxes levied by municipalities in Jefferson County, Alabama are assessed by the
Jefferson County Tax Assessor and collected by the Jefferson County Tax Collector. The Jefferson County Tax
Assessor attaches taxes as enforceable liens on property as of September 30 and taxes become due October 1
through December 31. Property taxes not paid by January 1 are considered delinquent. Personal property taxes are
also collected by the Jefferson County Tax Collector and are due throughout the year. After collecting property
taxes, the Jefferson County Tax Collector remits the City's portion by check monthly. Taxes collected by the
Jefferson County Tax Collector before the fiscal year end but remitted to the City after September 30 are accrued in
the General Fund.

For years beginning October 1, 1996, assessed values are calculated by multiplying the market value by the
following percentages:

Millage distributions for real and personal property located within the City's corporate limits are as follows:

The City's primary sources of revenue include ad valorem, sales and use, and utilities taxes and business licenses.
Collectively, these taxes and licenses totaled approximately $31.6 million (78%) and $30.5 million (80%) of the total
General Fund revenues during the years ended September 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively. Of the City's
taxpayers, Macy's Department Store, Alabama Power Company, Western Supermarket, Publix, Piggly Wiggly,
Whole Foods, Greenwise, Energen Corporation (gas company), Diamonds Direct, Marcus Cable (doing business as
Charter Communications), Grand Bohemian Inn, and Shoppes at River Run, LLC (grocery store), collectively,
provided approximately $7.3 million (18%) and $6.47 million (17%) of the City's total General Fund revenues during
the years ended September 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively.

In the government-wide financial statements, expenses are classified by function for the governmental activities.

In the fund financial statements, governmental funds report expenditures of financial resources.

Entity

35

DRAFT



City of Mountain Brook, Alabama

Notes to Financial Statements

V. Inventory

W.Comparative Data

X. Fixed Assets

-        Buildings 20-50 years
-        Improvements 10-50 years
-        Machinery and Equipment   3-20 years
-        Infrastructure   5-75 years

Fund financial statements

Y. Management estimates

Z. Subsequent events

2.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles requires
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities,
contingent liabilities and the reported amount of revenues and expenditures/expenses during the reporting period.
Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Comparative total data for the prior year has been presented in selected sections of the accompanying financial
statements in order to provide an understanding of the changes in the City's financial position and operations.
Certain reclassifications have been made to previous year's presentation to conform with the current year
presentation.  Such reclassifications have had no net effect on the statements previously reported.

The accounting treatment over property, plant, and equipment (fixed assets) depends on whether the assets are
reported in the government-wide or fund financial statements. In the government-wide financial statements, fixed
assets with initial individual costs of more than $1,000 (amounts not rounded) and an estimated useful life in excess
of one year are accounted for as capital assets. All fixed assets are valued at historical cost, or estimated historical
cost if actual is unavailable, except for donated fixed assets which are recorded at their estimated fair value at the
date of donation.  Historical cost was used to value the majority of the assets.

Prior to October 1, 2003, governmental funds' infrastructure assets were not capitalized. These assets have been
valued at historical cost or estimated historical costs.

Inventory items are valued at cost which approximates market. The cost of inventory is recorded as expenditures
when consumed rather than when purchased.

The City categorizes its fair value measurements within the fair value hierarchy established by generally accepted
accounting principles. The hierarchy is based on the valuation inputs used to measure the fair value of the assets.
Level 1 inputs are quoted prices in active markets for identical asset; Level 2 inputs are significant other observable
inputs; Level 3 inputs are significant unobservable inputs.

Deposits and investments, interest rate risk, credit risk, custodial risk and fair value reporting

Depreciation of all exhaustible fixed assets is recorded as an allocated expense in the Statement of Activities, with
accumulated depreciation reflected in the Statement of Net Position. Depreciation is provided over the assets'
estimated useful lives using the straight-line method of depreciation. The range of estimated useful lives by type of
asset is as follows:

The City has evaluated subsequent events through the date these financial statements were available to be issued.

In the fund financial statements, fixed assets used in governmental fund operations are accounted for as
expenditures of the governmental function upon acquisition.

36

DRAFT



City of Mountain Brook, Alabama

Notes to Financial Statements

-

-

-

-

-

At September 30, 2019, the City had the following cash and investments and maturities:

Investment Maturity in Years
Fair Less From 1 From 3

Value Than 1 Up To 3 Up To 5

Cash on-hand 2,760$           2,760$           0$                  0$                 
Bank deposits

Demand deposit accounts 6,574,633      6,574,633      0                    0                   
Institutional Governmental Money Market Funds 1,677,461      1,677,461      0                    0                   
U. S. Treasury securities 3,351,004      3,351,004      0                    0                   

Investments:
Cash and money market accounts 29,837           29,837           0                    0                   
Certificates of deposit 24,200,886    10,952,702    8,927,067      4,321,117     
U. S. Treasury securities 914,663         914,663         0                    0                   
576 shares VMC common stock (donated) 87,114           0                    0                    87,114          

36,838,358$  23,503,060$  8,927,067$    4,408,231$   

Investment Maturity in Years
Fair Less From 1 From 3 Greater

Value Than 1 Up To 3 Up To 5 Than 5

Bank deposits 217,028$         217,028$       0$                  0$                  0$                 
Deposits held in brokerage accounts 48,801             48,801           0                    0                    0                   
U. S. Treasury Notes 433,264           0                    165,631         246,974         20,659          
Corporate bonds 432,206           10,044           220,523         201,639         0                   
Municipal bonds 211,247           85,018           111,213         15,016           0                   
Mutual funds 3,454,551        3,454,551      0                    0                    0                   

4,797,097$      3,815,442$    497,367$       463,629$       20,659$        

Total portfolio

The OPEB Trust's cash deposits and certificates of deposit held in a brokerage account totaling $3.35 million are
valued used current market prices (Level 2  inputs)

The City's common stock of $87,114 is valued using quoted market prices obtained from the New York Stock
Exchange (Level 1 input)

The City, component unit and OPEB Trust have the following recurring fair value measurements as of September 30,
2019:

Mutual funds in the amount of $3.45 million and U. S. Treasury Notes totaling $433,265 held by the component
unit are valued using quoted market prices (Level 1 inputs)

Total portfolio

At September 30, 2019, the discretely presented component unit had the following cash and investments and
maturities:

At September 30, 2019, the OPEB Trust had the following cash and investments and maturities:

Municipal bonds totaling $211,247 (of which $39,924 are Level 1 and $171,322 are Level 2 inputs) and corporate
bonds totaling $432,206 (of which $406,666 are Level 1 and $25,540 are Level 2 inputs) held by the component
unit in  are valued using quoted market prices (Level 2 inputs)

The City's certificates of deposit totaling $24.2 million (Level 2 inputs) and U. S. government securities totaling
$915,000 (Level 1 inputs) are valued using current market prices

37

DRAFT



City of Mountain Brook, Alabama

Notes to Financial Statements

Investment Maturity in Years
Fair Less From 1 From 3

Value Than 1 Up To 3 Up To 5

Deposits held in brokerage accounts 461$              461$              0$                  0$                 
U. S. Treasury money market fund 1,307             1,307$           0$                  0$                 
Certificates of deposit 3,350,677      645,164         1,681,526      1,023,987     

Totals 3,352,445$    646,932$       1,681,526$    1,023,987$   

Portion of Respective Portfolio
Component

Maturity City Unit OPEB Trust

Less than one year 63.80%          79.54%         19.30%          
1 - 2 years 24.23%          10.37%         50.16%          
3 - 5 years 11.97%          9.66%           30.54%          

Greater than five years 0%                 0.43%           0%                 

100.00%        100.00%       100.00%        

Fair Portion of
 Value  Portfolio 

Iberia Bank (demand deposit accounts)  $    5,765,746 15.65%         
Iberia Bank (short-term U. S. Treasury securities)        5,028,465 13.65%         
Regions Bank (demand deposit accounts)           808,887 2.20%           
Morgan Stanley (cash, deposits, money market funds)             29,837 0.08%           
All other (cash on-hand and common stock)             89,874 0.24%           
U. S. Treasury obligations           914,663 2.48%           
Various financial institutions - certificates of deposit      24,200,886 65.70%         

 $  36,838,358 100.00%       
                            

The discretely presented component unit does not follow the investment policies of the City. Their policy allows for
investments that may potentially produce the highest returns on capital. The discretely presented component unit had
no uninsured bank deposits at September 30, 2019 or September 30, 2018. Following is a summary of the holdings in
the discretely presented component unit's cash and investment portfolio:

Interest Rate Risk. As a means of limiting its exposure to fair value losses arising from rising interest rates, the City's
investment policy restricts General Fund investments to those with maturities of two years or less and Capital Project
and Debt Service Fund investments to those with maturities of five years or less. Cash and investment maturities as of
September 30, 2019, were as follows:

Credit Risk. Act No. 2000-748 of the Code of Alabama requires that all public deposits held in banks be secured by
collateral pledged to the Security for Alabama Funds Enhancement (SAFE) collateral pool established in the Office of
the State Treasurer. The City's policy is to deposit funds only in financial institutions that are qualified public
depositories of the State of Alabama SAFE program or other federally insured financial institutions. All of the City's
bank deposits are either insured by Federal Depository Insurance Corporation (FDIC) or collateralized in accordance
with Act 2000-748.

The City's investment policy allows for up to 100% of the portfolio to be invested in direct obligations of the U.S.
government or federal agencies thereof in accordance with §11-81-19 and §11-81-21 of the Code of Alabama. At
September 30, 2019, the City had invested $24.2 million in certificates of deposit and $3.5 million in U. S. Treasury
obligations. All of the City's $24.2 million investment in certificates of deposit were insured by the FDIC. Following is a
summary of the City's top holdings in its cash and investment portfolio:

38

DRAFT



City of Mountain Brook, Alabama

Notes to Financial Statements

Fair Portion of

Description/Creditor  Par  Cost  Value  Portfolio 

Bank deposits  $        63,276  $         63,276 1.32%           

Deposits held in brokerage accounts            48,801             48,801 1.02%           

Money market          153,752           153,752 3.21%           

U. S. Treasury Notes  $       425,000          422,833           433,264 9.03%           

Corporate bonds           421,000          428,693           432,206 9.01%           

Municipal bonds           210,000          214,039           211,247 4.40%           

Mutual funds       2,947,079        3,454,551 72.01%         

 $   4,278,473  $    4,797,097 100.00%       

3. Receivables
Receivables at September 30, consisted of the following:

2019
Other

General Capital Governmental 2018
Fund Projects Funds Total Total

Taxes 2,131,109$      0$                  0$                  2,131,109$    1,986,976$   
E-911 surcharge 0                      0                    31,791           31,791           58,043          
Board of Education (Note 1.B.) 4,144               0                    0                    4,144             0                   
Grants 0                      167,423         0                    167,423         74,787          

Other 63,704             5,248             37,989           106,941         198,773        

Totals 2,198,957$      172,671$       69,780$         2,441,408$    2,318,579$   

4. Capital assets

Balance at Disposals/ Balance at

September 30, Retirements/ September 30,

2018 Additions Completed 2019

Capital assets, 
  not being depreciated:

Land 19,914,153$  275,970$       0$                  20,190,123$ 
Construction in progress 1,043,636      1,419,287      (817,131)        1,645,792     

Total capital assets, not being depreciated 20,957,789    1,695,257      (817,131)        21,835,915   

The OPEB Trust follows the investment policies of the City. Accordingly, the OPEB Trust generally invests in fixed
income securities with maturities of five years or less. At September 30, 2019, the OPEB Trust had invested $3.35
million in certificates of deposit. The OPEB Trust held no certificates of deposit (including accrued interest) that
exceeded the $250,000 FDIC limit.

Custodial Risk. For an investment, custodial risk is the risk that, in the event of the failure of the counterparty, the
investor will not be able to recover the value of its investments or collateral securities that are in the possession of an
outside party.  The City's and OPEB Trust's investments in certificates of deposit are held in separate trusts by the City's 
and OPEB Trust's custodians in the name of the respective custodian. The discretely presented component unit's
investments are held in book entry form and in trust by its custodian in the name of the custodian.  

Following is a summary of the changes in the City's capital assets for the year ended September 30, 2019:

39

DRAFT



City of Mountain Brook, Alabama

Notes to Financial Statements

Capital assets,
  being depreciated:

Land improvements 3,123,579      0                    0                    3,123,579     
Buildings and improvements 36,325,000    104,206         0                    36,429,206   
Machinery and equipment 26,436,180    1,241,858      (682,980)        26,995,058   
Infrastructure 68,061,506    457,619         617,166         69,136,291   

Total capital assets, being depreciated 133,946,265  1,803,683      (65,814)          135,684,134 

Less accumulated
  depreciated for:

Land improvements 528,958         26,012           0                    554,970        
Buildings and improvements 9,404,358      1,228,966      0                    10,633,324   
Machinery and equipment 20,111,598    1,709,059      (682,980)        21,137,677   
Infrastructure 43,662,125    2,698,524      (199,965)        46,160,684   

Total accumulated depreciation 73,707,039    5,662,561      (882,945)        78,486,655   

Total capital assets, being depreciated, net 60,239,226    (3,858,878)    817,131         57,197,479   

Governmental activities capital assets, net 81,197,015$  (2,163,621)$  0$                  79,033,394$ 

Depreciation expense was charged to functions of the primary government as follows:

2019 2018

Governmental activities:
General government 379,935$       372,307$       
Public safety 1,661,812      1,624,558      
Street and sanitation 2,410,085      2,291,902      
Recreational 584,894         618,740         
Library 625,835         540,195         

Total depreciation expense 5,662,561$    5,447,702$    

5. Pension plan
A. General information about the pension plan

1) The Governor, ex officio.
2) The State Treasurer, ex officio.
3) The State Personnel Director, ex officio.
4) The State Director of Finance, ex officio.

The ERS Board of Control consists of 13 trustees as follows:

Plan description. The Employees’ Retirement System of Alabama (ERS), an agent multiple-employer plan, was
established October 1, 1945 under the provisions of Act 515 of the Legislature of 1945 for the purpose of providing
retirement allowances and other specified benefits for state employees, State Police, and on an elective basis, to all
cities, counties, towns and quasi-public organizations. The responsibility for the general administration and
operation of ERS is vested in its Board of Control. The ERS Board of Control consists of 13 trustees. The Plan is
administered by the Retirement Systems of Alabama (RSA). Title 36-Chapter 27 of the Code of Alabama grants the
authority to establish and amend the benefit terms to the ERS Board of Control. The Plan issues a publicly available
financial report that can be obtained at www.rsa-al.gov.

40

DRAFT



City of Mountain Brook, Alabama

Notes to Financial Statements

5)

6)

a.

b. Two vested active state employees.
c. Two vested active employees of an employer participating in ERS pursuant to Alabama Code §36-27-6.

Retirees and beneficiaries currently receiving benefits 24,021           
8,557             

Active members 56,109           

Total 88,687           

Contributions. Covered members of the ERS contributed 5% of earnable compensation to the ERS as required by
statute until September 30, 2011. From October 1, 2011, to September 30, 2012, covered members of the ERS
were required by statute to contribute 7.25% of earnable compensation. Effective October 1, 2012, covered
members of the ERS are required by statute to contribute 7.50% of earnable compensation. Certified law
enforcement, correctional officers, and firefighters of the ERS contributed 6% of earnable compensation as required
by statute until September 30, 2011. From October 1, 2011, to September 30, 2012, certified law enforcement,
correctional officers, and firefighters of the ERS were required by statute to contribute 8.25% of earnable
compensation. Effective October 1, 2012, certified law enforcement, correctional officers, and firefighters of the ERS
are required by statute to contribute 8.50% of earnable compensation. State Police of the ERS contribute 10% of
earnable compensation. ERS local participating employers are not required by statute to increase contribution rates
for their members. The City Council elected to increase the employee contribution rates as described above as
provided in Act 2011-676 of the Regular Session of the 2011 Alabama Legislature effective October 1, 2011.

Six members of ERS who are elected by members from the same category of ERS for a term of four years as 
follows:

Members are eligible for disability retirement if they have 10 years of credible service, are currently in-service, and
determined by the RSA Medical Board to be permanently incapacitated from further performance of duty.
Preretirement death benefits are calculated and paid to the beneficiary on the member’s age, service credit,
employment status and eligibility for retirement.

The ERS serves approximately 874 local participating employers. These participating employers include 297 cities, 
65 counties, and 511 other public entities.  As of September 30, 2017, membership consisted of:

 Terminated employees entitled to but not yet receiving benefits

Two retired members with one from the ranks of retired state employees and one from the ranks of retired 
employees of a city, county, or a public agency each of whom is an active beneficiary of ERS.

Three vested members of ERS appointed by the Governor for a term of four years, no two of whom are from the 
same department of state government nor from any department of which an ex officio trustee is the head.

Act 377 of the Legislature of 2012 established a new tier of benefits (Tier 2) for members hired on or after January 1,
2013. Tier 2 ERS members are eligible for retirement after age 62 (56 for State Police) with 10 years or more of
creditable service and are entitled to an annual retirement benefit, payable monthly for life. Service and disability
retirement benefits are based on a guaranteed minimum or a formula method, with the member receiving payment
under the method that yields the highest monthly benefit. Under the formula method, Tier 2 members of the ERS
(except State Police) are allowed 1.65% of their average final compensation (highest 5 of the last 10 years) for each
year of service. State Police are allowed 2.375% for each year of state police service in computing the formula
method.

Benefits provided. State law establishes retirement benefits as well as death and disability benefits and any ad hoc
increase in postretirement benefits for the ERS. Benefits for ERS members vest after 10 years of creditable service.
State employees who retire after age 60 (52 for State Police) with 10 years or more of creditable service or with 25
years of service (regardless of age) are entitled to an annual retirement benefit, payable monthly for life. Local
employees who retire after age 60 with 10 years or more of creditable service or with 25 or 30 years of service
(regardless of age), depending on the particular entity’s election, are entitled to an annual retirement benefit, payable
monthly for life. Service and disability retirement benefits are based on a guaranteed minimum or a formula method,
with the member receiving payment under the method that yields the highest monthly benefit. Under the formula
method, members of the ERS (except State Police) are allowed 2.0125% of their average final compensation
(highest 3 of the last 10 years) for each year of service. State Police are allowed 2.875% for each year of State
Police service in computing the formula method.

41

DRAFT



City of Mountain Brook, Alabama

Notes to Financial Statements

Unit (Collectively, "The City of Mountain Brook") Tier 1 Tier 2
2460 City of Mountain Brook 15.47% 14.56%
4791 Mountain Brook Library Board 2.18% 1.61%
4792 Mountain Brook Park and Recreation Board 2.55% 1.42%

B. Net pension liability 

Unit
City Library Park Board Combined

2460 MTB 4791 MBL 4792 MBP
Total pension liability as of September 30, 2017 (a)  $  78,168,678  $   4,727,503  $    2,296,687  $ 85,192,868 
Changes of assumptions           409,531            29,564             11,232          450,327 
Interest        5,869,383          357,295           174,851       6,401,529 
Difference between expected and actual experience           237,672          226,168             14,181          478,021 
Transfers among employers         (160,783)                     0                      0        (160,783)
Entry age normal cost for the period

October 1, 2017 through September 30, 2018 (b)        1,230,854          117,709             49,561       1,398,124 
Actual benefit payments and refunds for the period

October 1, 2017 through September 30, 2018 (c)      (4,869,410)         (234,484)           (81,087)     (5,184,981)

Total pension liability as of September 30, 2018            
 $  80,885,925  $   5,223,755  $    2,465,425  $ 88,575,105 

The required contribution rates above are based upon the actuarial valuation dated September 30, 2016, a percent
of annual pensionable payroll, and actuarially determined as an amount that, when combined with member
contributions, is expected to finance the costs of benefits earned by members during the year, with an additional
amount to finance any unfunded accrued liability. Total contributions to the pension plan were $3,991,667
($2,105,237 employer actuarially determined amount, excess employer contributions of $638,000, and $1,248,430
employee excluding pre-retirement death benefits of 0.02% and administrative expenses of 0.35%) for the year
ended September 30, 2019.

Tier 2 covered members of the ERS contribute 6% of earnable compensation to the ERS as required by statute. Tier
2 certified law enforcement, correctional officers, and firefighters of the ERS are required by statute to contribute 7%
of earnable compensation. Tier 2 State Police members of the ERS contribute 10% of earnable compensation.
These contributions rates are the same for Tier 2 covered members of ERS local participating employers.

The ERS establishes rates based upon an actuarially determined rate recommended by an independent actuary.
The actuarially determined rate is the estimated amount necessary to finance the costs of benefits earned by
employees during the year, with additional amounts to finance any unfunded accrued liability, the pre-retirement
death benefit and administrative expenses of the Plan. For the year ended September 30, 2019, the City's active
employee contribution rates were 7.50% (Tier 1) and 6% (Tier 2) for civilian employees and 8.5% (Tier 1) and 7%
(Tier 2) for sworn police officers and firefighters. For the year ended September 30, 2019, the City’s actuarially
determined contribution rates for active employee (including pre-retirement death benefits of 0.02% and
administrative expenses of 0.35%) expressed as a percentage of covered employee payroll was as follows:

The City’s net pension liability was measured as of September 30, 2017, and the total pension liability used to
calculate the net pension liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of September 30, 2016 rolled forward
to September 30, 2017, using standard roll-forward techniques as shown below:

[(a) x (1.0775)] + (b) - [(c) x (1.03875)]

The weighted average contribution rate (including pre-retirement death benefits of 0.02% and administrative
expenses of 0.35%) to fund the normal and accrued liability costs was 14.41%.

42

DRAFT



City of Mountain Brook, Alabama

Notes to Financial Statements

Inflation 2.75%
Salary increases 3.25%─5.00%
Investment rate of return* 7.70%

*Net of pension plan investment expense

 Target 

Allocation 

 Long-Term 

Expected Rate 

of Return* 

Fixed Income 17.00%         4.40%            
U.S. Large Stocks 32.00%         8.00%            
U.S. Mid Stocks 9.00%           10.00%          
U.S. Small Stocks 4.00%           11.00%          
International Developed Market Stocks 12.00%         9.51%            
International Emerging Market Stocks 3.00%           11.00%          
Alternatives 10.00%         10.10%          
Real Estate 10.00%         7.50%            
Cash 3.00%           1.50%            

Total 100.00%       

*Includes assumed rate of inflation of 2.75%.

Mortality rates for ERS were based on the sex distinct RP-2000 Blue Collar Mortality Table Projected with Scale BB
to 2020 with an adjustment of 125% at all ages for males and 120% for females ages 78 and older. The rates of
mortality for the period after disability retirement are according to the sex distinct RP-2000 Disabled Retiree Mortality
Table Projected with Scale BB to 2020 with an adjustment of 130% at all ages for females.

Actuarial assumptions.  

Discount rate. The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was the long term rate of return, 7.70%.
The projection of cash flows used to determine the discount rate assumed that plan member contributions will be
made at the current contribution rate and that the employer contributions will be made in accordance with the funding
policy adopted by the ERS Board of Control. Based on those assumptions, components of the pension plan’s
fiduciary net position were projected to be available to make all projected future benefit payments of current pan
members. Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was applied to all periods of
projected benefit payments to determine the total pension liability.

The total pension liability as of September 30, 2018, was determined based on the annual actuarial funding valuation
report prepared as of September 30, 2017.  The key actuarual assumptions are summarized below: 

The actuarial assumptions used in the September 30, 2017, valuation were based on the results of an investigation
of the economic and demographic experience for the ERS based upon participant data as of September 30, 2015.
The Board of Control accepted and approved these changes in September 2016, which became effective at the
beginning of fiscal year 2016.

The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was determined using a log-normal distribution
analysis in which best-estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return (expected returns, net of pension plan
investment expense and inflation) are developed for each major asset class. These ranges are combined to
produce the long-term expected rate of return by weighting the expected future real rates of return by the target
asset allocation percentage and by adding expected inflation. The target asset allocation and best estimates of
geometric real rates of return for each major asset class are as follows:

43

DRAFT



City of Mountain Brook, Alabama

Notes to Financial Statements

C. Changes in net pension liability

Increase (Decrease)

Total Pension 
Liability

Plan Fiduciary 
Net Position

Net Pension 
Liability

(a) (b)  (a) - (b)
Balances at September 30, 2017 85,192,868$  57,203,288$  27,989,580$ 

Changes for the year:
Service cost 1,398,124      0                    1,398,124     
Interest 6,401,529      0                    6,401,529     
Changes of assumptions 450,327         0                    450,327        
Differences between expected and actual experience 478,021         0                    478,021        
Contributions─employer 0                    2,350,438      (2,350,438)    
Contributions─employee 0                    1,210,003      (1,210,003)    
Net investment income 0                    5,207,452      (5,207,452)    
Benefit payments, including refunds of
     employee contributions (5,184,981)    (5,184,981)     0                   
Administrative expense 0                    0                    0                   
Transfers among employers (160,783)       (160,783)        0                   

Net changes 3,382,237      3,422,129      (39,892)         

Balances at September 30, 2018 88,575,105$  60,625,417$  27,949,688$ 

1% Decrease Current Rate 1% Increase
(6.70%) (7.70%) (8.70%)

City's net pension liability 37,918,388$  27,949,688$  19,494,677$ 

D. Pension expense and deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pension

Sensitivity of the net pension liability to changes in the discount rate. The following table presents the City’s
net pension liability calculated using the discount rate of 7.70%, as well as what the City’s proportionate share of the
net pension liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is one percentage point lower (6.70%) or
one percentage point higher (8.70%) than the current rate:

Pension plan fiduciary net position. Detailed information about the pension plan's fiduciary net position is
available in the separately issued RSA Comprehensive Annual Report for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2018.
The supporting actuarial information is included in the GASB Statement No. 68 Report for the ERS prepared as of
September 30, 2018. The auditor's report dated January 15, 2019, on the Schedule of Changes in Fiduciary Net
Position by Employer and accompanying notes is also available. The additional financial and actuarial information is
available at www.rsa-al.gov.

For the year ended September 30, 2019, the City recognized pension expense of $2,653,549. At September 30,
2019, the City reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions of the
following sources:

44

DRAFT



City of Mountain Brook, Alabama

Notes to Financial Statements

 Deferred 
Outflows of 
Resources 

 Deferred 
Inflows of 
Resources 

Differences between expected and actual experience 1,442,601$    665,186$       

Changes of assumptions 2,927,253      0                    

Net difference between projected and actual earnings on pension

plan investments 0                    1,975,591      

Employer contributions subsequent to the measurement date 2,743,237      0                    

Total 7,113,091$    2,640,777$    

Year ended September 30:

 Deferred 
Outflows/ 

Inflows 
Resources 

2020 783,287$       
2021 121,578         
2022 254,901         
2023 406,854         
2024 126,398         

       Thereafter 36,059           

E. Payable to the pension plan

F.
City Library Park Board Combined

2460 MTB 4791 MBL 4792 MBP
Retired members or their beneficiaries currently

receiving benefits 119                9                    4                    132               
Vested inactive members 2                    1                    0                    3                   
Non-vested inactive members 1                    1                    0                    2                   
Active members 193                26                  17                  236               

Total 315                37                  21                  373               

6. Post-employment benefits
Plan Description. The City of Mountain Brook provides medical benefits to eligible retirees through participation in the
Local Government Health Insurance Plan (LGHIP) administered by the State of Alabama's Local Government Health
Insurance Board (LGHIB). 

Membership as of the Measurement Date September 30, 2018

Article VII of the Trust stipulates that the City Council had the authority to establish the Trust and Article V, Sec. 5.4
assigns authority to manage the plan and amend the benefit provisions to the City Council (or Board of Trustees), which
consists of the five members elected at-large. Because these members of the City Council are elected to office, the
members of the Plan's Board of Trustees vary from time-to-time. Additionally, the Board of Trustees may designate
certain City officials as signatories on the Trust's investment account.

Amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources to pensions will be recognized 
in pension expense as follows:

The City reported a payable of $0 for the outstanding amount of contributions to the pension plan required for the
year ended September 30, 2019 (and accrued pension contributions in the amount of $143,687 applicable to
accrued [pensionable] salaries and wages as of September 30, 2019).

45

DRAFT



City of Mountain Brook, Alabama

Notes to Financial Statements

                   28 
                 222 

                 250 

Asset Class
Target 

Allocation
Certificates of deposit 100%

Net OPEB Liability

Inactive plan members or beneficiaries currently receiving benefit payments

Total

Active plan members

Concentrations. All plan assets are held in book entry form in a brokerage account. The investments in certificates of
deposit are protected by Federal Depository Insurance (FDIC).

Contributions. The City Council of the City of Mountain Brook has the authority to establish and amend the
contribution requirements of plan members. Employees do not contribute to their post-employment benefit costs until
they become retirees and begin receiving benefits. The plan provisions are contained in the official plan documents.  

Rate of Return. For the year ended September 30, 2019, the annual money-weighted rate of return (loss) on
investments, net of investment expense, was 5.73%. The money-weighted rate of return expresses investment
performance, net of investment expense, adjusted for the changing amounts actually invested.

The City's net OPEB liability was measured as of September 30, 2019, and the total OPEB liability used to cacluate the
net OPEB liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of October 1, 2018, rolled forward to September 30,
2019, using standard roll-forward techniques as shown below:

Benefits Provided. The City pays a portion of the medical coverage for the retirees and dependents for a maximum of
thirteen years after retirement or, if earlier, until the attainment of Medicare eligibility. The earliest retirement eligibility
provisions are as follows: 25 years of service at any age; or, age 60 and 10 years of service (called "Tier I members).
Employees hired on and after January 1, 2013 (called "Tier II" members) are eligible to retire only after attainment of
age 62 (age 56 for sworn police officers and firefighters) or later and completion of 10 years of service.

Investment policy. The Plan's policy regarding the allocation of invested assets is established and may be amended
by the Board of Trustees.  The following was the asset allocation policy as of September 30, 2019:

Plan Membership.  At September 30, 2018, the Plan's membership consisted of the following:

46

DRAFT



City of Mountain Brook, Alabama

Notes to Financial Statements

Plan
Total OPEB Fiduciary Net OPEB

Liability Net Position Liability
(a) (b) (a)-(b)

Balances at September 30, 2018 5,824,487$    2,886,328$    2,938,159$   
Service cost 74,389           0                    74,389          
Interest cost at 3.50% 197,709         0                    197,709        
Differences between expected and actual experience 511,365         0                    511,365        
Contributions-employer 0                    521,626         (521,626)       
Contributions-retirees 0                    132,677         (132,677)       
Net investment income 0                    166,117         (166,117)       
Direct benefit payments (351,303)       (351,303)        0                   
Direct administrative expense 0                    (3,000)            3,000            

Net changes 432,160         466,117         (33,957)         

Balances at September 30, 2019 6,256,647$    3,352,445$    2,904,202$   

Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of the total OPEB liability:

September 30, 2019 53.58%          

September 30, 2018 49.56%          

Inflation 2.5%
Salary increases 3.0% including inflation
Discount rate 3.5% annually (Beginning of Year to Determine ADC*)

3.5% annually (As of End of Year Measurement Date)
Healthcare cost trend rate 5.5% annually

* Actuarially Determined Contribution

The actuarial assumptions used in the October 1, 2018, valuation were based on the results of ongoing evaluations of
the assumptions from October 1, 2006 to September 30, 2019 in addition to the Office of Group Benefits (OGB)
assumptions. 

Actuarial Assumptions.  The total OPEB liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of October 1, 2018, 
using the following actuarial assumptions applied to all periods included in the measurement, unless otherwise 
specified:

The RP-2000 Table without projection with 50%/50% unisex blend has been used. Projected future mortality
improvement has not been used since it is our opinion that this table contains a substantial conservative margin for the
population involved in this valuation.

The long-term expected rate of return on OPEB plan investments was determined using a building-block method in
which best-estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return (expected returns, net of investment expense and
inflation) are developed for each major asset class. These ranges are combined to produce the long-term expected
rate of return by weighting the expected future real rates of return by the target asset allocation percentage and by
adding expected inflation. Best estimates of arithmetic real rates of return for each major asset class included in the
target asset allocation as of September 30, 2019, are summarized in the following table:

47

DRAFT



City of Mountain Brook, Alabama

Notes to Financial Statements

Asset Class

Long-Term 
Expected 

Real Rate of 
Return

Domestic Equity 6.0%
Corporate Bonds 5.0%
Certificates of Deposit 1.0%
Cash 0.0%

1% Decrease Current Rate 1% Increase

(2.5%) (3.5%) (4.5%)

City's net OPEB liability 3,584,064$    2,904,202$    2,313,402$   

1% Decrease Current Rate 1% Increase

(4.5%) (5.5%) (6.5%)

City's net OPEB liability 2,282,049$    2,904,202$    3,619,194$   

7. Commitments and contingencies

2019 2018

Property tax commissions  $      225,406  $       220,451 
Maintenance of maps and appraisals 260,838 238,057
Jefferson County Health Department 126,765 124,045
Birmingham-Jefferson County Transit Authority 121,987 121,451
Personnel Board of Jefferson County 226,644 281,206
Birmingham Regional Planning Commission 12,350 12,350

The City is charged by the Jefferson County Commission for shared services. The assessments for shared services
charged to the City during 2019 and 2018 were as follows:

With the exception of the Personnel Board and Planning Commission costs, the above expenses are deducted from the
ad valorem property taxes remitted by the Jefferson County Tax collector (Note 1.S.) to the City of Mountain Brook. For
financial reporting purposes, the City grosses-up the General Fund ad valorem tax revenues and general government
expenditures by these amounts.

Discount Rate. The discount rate used to measure the total OPEB liability was 3.5%. The projection of cash flows
used to determine the discount rate assumed that City contributions will be made at rates equal to the actuarially
determined contribution rates. Based on those assumptions, the OPEB plan’s fiduciary net position was projected to be
available to make all projected future benefit payments of current plan members. Therefore, the long-term expected
rate of return on OPEB plan investments was applied to all periods of projected benefit payments to determine the total
OPEB liability.

Sensitivity of the net OPEB liability to changes in the discount rate. The following represents the net OPEB liability
of the City, as well as what the City's net OPEB liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is one
percentage point lower (2.5%) or one percentage point higher (4.5%) than the current discount rate:

Sensitivity of the net OPEB liability to changes in the healthcare cost trend rates. The following represents the net
OPEB liability of the City, as well as what the City’s net OPEB liability would be if it were calculated using healthcare
cost trend rates that are one percentage point lower (4.5%) or one percentage point higher (6.5%) than the current
healthcare trend rates:

48

DRAFT



City of Mountain Brook, Alabama

Notes to Financial Statements

Original
 Commitment  2019  2018  Change 

Infrastructure  $     4,000,000  $       500,000  $      500,000  $                  0 
Revenue sharing       10,000,000        6,771,721       7,648,365         (876,644)

Totals  $   14,000,000  $    7,271,721  $   8,148,365  $     (876,644)

In August 2013, the City entered into a development agreement with a real estate developer constructing a 28-acre,
$120 million planned unit development. Under the terms of the development agreement, the City will reimburse the
developer $4 million for its infrastructure costs of constructing a new road and widening and improving existing roads
upon completion of such improvements. In addition, the City has agreed to a $10 million revenue sharing arrangement.
To the extent that sales tax revenue generated from the new development exceeds the pre-development annual
baseline of $728,000 (to be indexed annually at the rate of 2%), the City shall pay the developer 90% of the excess.
The City shall also pay the developer 90% of the new lodging tax revenue generated and the City's portion of real estate
taxes in excess of the pre-development annual baseline of $65,000 (to be indexed annually at the rate of 2%). The
accompanying financial statements include infrastructure incentive expense of $-0- and $2,568,118 for the years ended
September 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively, and revenue sharing development incentive expense of $876,644 and
$1,033,144 for the years ended September 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively. The $156,500 reduction in the incentive
payments in 2019 compared to 2018 resulted from the sale of a grocery store during the year which resulted in a 4-
month closure of the store while the acquiring grocer rebranded the space. The outstanding development incentive
commitment balance at September 30 was as follows:  

The City has arranged for an independent contractor, Waste Management Company, Inc., to provide for the collection
and disposal of refuse and recyclable materials. The base rates for this service for the year ended September 30,
2019, were $31.89 per month for single and multiple family residential units and $39.12 per month for commercial units.
The annual cost incurred under this agreement for each the years ended September 30, 2019 and 2018, was
approximately $2,871,000. Total garbage service fee revenues collected by the City from its commercial customers
during the years ended September 30, 2019 and 2018 were $32,395 and $29,948, respectively.

In 2014, the City entered into a development agreement for the construction of a new grocery store. Under the terms of
the development agreement, the City will pay the developer monthly amounts equal to 75% of the sales tax derived
from the store for five years and 50% of the sales tax derived from the store thereafter up to $4 million in the aggregate
or twenty years (whichever occurs first). Additionally, the City shall pay the developer an amount equal to the City's
26.1 mil share of the 99 mil ad valorem tax in any year that taxable sales exceed defined targets increased annually
based on pre-construction projections. The incentive payments commenced in 2016 upon the opening of the store.
The accompanying financial statements include revenue sharing incentive expense of $345,719 and $282,620 for the
years ended September 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively. The outstanding development incentive commitment balance
was $3,030,015 and $3,375,734 as of September 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively.

In 2016, the City renewed two, 5-year leases of real property used for public parking. Both leases expire on September
30, 2021. The leases are payable in monthly installments. Lease payments remitted for the years ended September
30, 2019 and 2018 totaled $63,956 and $63,803, respectively. Annual lease payments for the fiscal years ending
September 30, 2020 and 2021 will be $64,109, and $64,262, respectively.

Construction in progress (Note 4) at September 30 includes the following projects:

49

DRAFT



City of Mountain Brook, Alabama

Notes to Financial Statements

2019 2018

Streets and bridge  $   1,025,950  $       598,111 
Public building improvements          157,858                      0 
Drainage projects            45,178                      0 
Sidewalks and pedestrian bridge          416,806           445,525 

     Total  $   1,645,792  $    1,043,636 

Project Description

Contract 
Commitment 

and 
Anticipated 
Overruns

Expended in 

Fiscal 2019 (1)

Federal 
Awards 

Reported in 
2019

Estimated 
Cost to 

Complete

Anticipated 
Completion 

Date
Intersection improvements Cahaba Road/

US 280/Culver Road/Lane Park Road
CMAQ-3715(266)  $        608,456  $       211,434  $      169,120  $         77,000 2021

Sidewalk Improvements along Pine

Ridge Road - CMAQ-3718(251)            236,339             78,230            62,584           174,000 2020

Sidewalk Along Dunbarton Drive from
North Woodridge Road to Locksley
Drive - TAPBH-TA18(931)              99,900             70,938                     0             29,000 2021

Sidewalk Improvements along Hagood
Street - TAPBH-TA-19(930)            120,000             38,112                     0             82,000 2020

Mountain Brook Village Walkway System
Phase 9, Brookwood and Crosshill Roads
and Oakdale Drive Pending

CMAQ-NR13(908)         1,763,584             42,628            34,922                      0 ALDOT Close-out

Totals  $       441,342  $      266,626  $       362,000 

reimbursement.

8. Constitutional debt limit

The City has entered into various contracts with the Alabama Department of Transportation (ALDOT) and engineering
firms with respect to the Village Walkway System (sidewalks) and U. S. Highway 280 intersection improvements
construction projects. The projects are being administered by ALDOT and federal awards have been granted that
generally provide up to 80% of allowable construction and related costs. Following is a summary of the sidewalk and
intersection improvement contracts underway as of September 30, 2019:

Section 225, as amended, of the Constitution of the State of Alabama limits for municipalities with populations of 6,000
or more to 20 percent of the assessed value of taxable property. Excluded from this limitation are bonds issued for the
construction of schools, waterworks, sewers, and assessed improvements. Following are the constitution debt limit and
legal debt margin:

(1)  The amounts expended in fiscal 2019 include project-related expenditures not eligible for federal

50

DRAFT



City of Mountain Brook, Alabama

Notes to Financial Statements

2019 2018

Assessed value of taxable real and personal property
     as provided by the Jefferson County Tax Assessor $668,268,080 $626,621,340

Constitutional debt limit, 20 percent of assessed value $133,653,616 $125,324,268
Outstanding long-term debt as of September 30                     0                      0 

Legal Debt Margin $133,653,616 $125,324,268

9. Tax Abatements (Revenue Sharing Agreements)

Nature of Incentive Type of Tax

Percentage of 
City Taxes 

Abated
Abatement 

Amount
Expiration of 

Incentive

Maximum 
Incentive 
Amount

Grocer annexation/development Ad valorem 100% 12,699$         2020 Not applicable
Public parking Ad valorem 100% 2,241             2021 Not applicable

14,940           
Redevelopment of commercial and

multi-family parcels

Revenue sharing 2035 (2)
10,000,000$ 

Ad valorem 100%(1)
509,642         

Lodging and 

Sales Tax (1)
90% 367,002         

Redevelopment of parcels for 
commercial use Sales Tax

75% 
2016─2020, 

50% thereafter 345,719         2034 (2)
4,000,000$   

General government expense 1,222,363      

Total incentive 1,237,303$    

10. Litigation
Several claims, suits, and complaints, common to municipalities, have been filed or are pending against the City. In the
opinion of management and the City's attorney, all such matters are without merit or involve such amounts as would not
have a material adverse effect on the City's financial statements.

(2) The defined expiration of the incentive agreement based on the expressed term in years. The City is confident that
the incentive agreement will be satisfied earlier based on the performance of the retailer and collections realized.

(1) The development incentive is equal to 100% of ad valorem and 90% of sales taxes collected in excess of the pre-
development baseline collections plus 90% of lodging tax collections. The pre-development ad valorem and sales tax
baseline(s) are increased annually at the rate of 1-1/2%.

The City has entered into various tax abatement (revenue sharing agreements) with property owners, businesses and
real estate developers for the purpose of a) annexing commercial/recreational properties, b) recruiting new business
development and c) promoting the redevelopment of commercial parcels within the City. The agreements have limited
terms and are entered into by the City as they are expected to benefit the City or increase revenue. These incentive
agreements require approval by the City Council and are authorized by Amendment 772 to the Constitution of Alabama
(1901) (Article 94.01 of the Recompiled Constitution of Alabama). The incentive agreements generally expire upon the
earlier of a specified term of years or the satisfaction of the agreed upon incentive amount. Following is a summary of
such agreements:

Offset against related ad valorem 
tax revenue

51

DRAFT



City of Mountain Brook, Alabama

Notes to Financial Statements

11. Future Accounting Pronouncements

The City is currently evaluating the effects that these statements will have on its financial statements for subsequent
fiscal years.

The Governmental Accounting Standards Board has issued statements that will become effective in subsequent fiscal
years.  The statements address:

• Accounting for interest cost incurred before the end of a construction period

• Conduit debt obligations

• Fiduciary activities
• Leases

• Majority equity interests

• Certain disclosures related to debt, including direct borrowings and direct placements

52

DRAFT



REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

DRAFT



This page is blank intentionally.

DRAFT



Original Final
Budget Budget Actual Variance

Revenues:     
60-GF Rev by SourceTaxes 32,394,257$ 32,394,257$ 33,139,900$ 745,643$      
60-GF Rev by SourceLicenses and permits 5,018,680     5,018,680 5,196,898 178,218        
60-GF Rev by SourceIntergovernmental 199,790        199,790 160,291 (39,499)         
60-GF Rev by SourceCharges for services 755,947        759,947 767,403 7,456            
60-GF Rev by SourceFines and forfeitures 534,700        534,700 461,595 (73,105)         
60-GF Rev by SourceGrants 13,068          13,068 96,880 83,812          
60-GF Rev by SourceOther operating revenues 446,880        446,880        870,339        423,459        

Total  revenues 39,363,322   39,367,322   40,693,306   1,325,984     

Expenditures:     
 Current (operating):

General government 6,850,501     6,850,501     6,722,502 127,999        
Public safety 16,248,266   16,252,266   15,870,133 382,133        
Street and sanitation 6,915,412     6,915,412     6,741,476 173,936        
Recreational 1,378,981     1,378,981     1,347,910 31,071          
Library 3,413,998     3,413,998     3,269,996     144,002        

Total expenditures 34,807,158   34,811,158   33,952,017   859,141        

Excess of revenues over expenditures 4,556,164     4,556,164     6,741,289     2,185,125     

Other financing sources (uses):
Operating transfers (out) (4,548,849)    (4,548,849)    (5,997,275)    (1,448,426)    
Operating transfers in - component unit 139,000        139,000        70,841          (68,159)         

Donations 70,610          70,610          110,251        39,641          

Total other financing sources (uses) (4,339,239)    (4,339,239)    (5,816,183)    (1,476,944)    

Excess of revenues and other financing sources
over expenditures and other financing uses 216,925        216,925        925,106        708,181        

Fund balances, beginning of year 16,044,208   16,044,208   16,044,208   0                   

FUND BALANCES, END OF YEAR 16,261,133$ 16,261,133$ 16,969,314$ 708,181$      

City of Mountain Brook, Alabama
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances

Budget and Actual - General Fund
Year Ended September 30, 2019

55

DRAFT



City of Mountain Brook, Alabama

Notes to Required Supplementary Information

Summary of significant accounting policies 

A. Budgets and budgetary accounting

1.

2.

3.

4.

5.

6. At the end of the year, unencumbered appropriations automatically lapse.

Budget information presented in the financial statements is based on the budget as adopted by
the City Council on September 24, 2018 (Ordinance No. 2029) and subsequently revised by way
of administrative adjustments that did not change the budgeted surplus.

The City has adopted and adheres to the following procedures in establishing the budgetary data 
reflected in the financial statements:

The City Manager submits to the City Council a proposed budget for the fiscal year
commencing October 1. The budget includes proposed expenditures and the means of
financing those expenditures.

A public hearing is conducted to obtain taxpayers' comments.

The budget is legally enacted through the passage of an ordinance.

The City Manager is authorized to transfer budgeted amounts within departments within any
fund; however, any revisions that alter the total expenditures of any fund or transfer of funds
between departments must be approved by the City Council.

Formal budgetary integration is employed as a management control device during the year for
the General, Special Revenue, and Capital Projects Funds.

56

DRAFT



City of Mountain Brook, Alabama

Required Supplementary Information

Schedule of Changes in the Net Pension Liability and Related Ratios

Years Ended September 30

2018 2017 2016 2015 2014

Total pension liability

Service costs 1,398,124$    1,387,510$    1,336,195$    1,300,723$    1,271,006$    

Interest 6,401,529      6,201,215      5,796,789      5,523,394      5,313,180      

Change in assumptions 450,327         0                    4,619,194      0                    0                    

478,021         (179,827)        429,303         809,623         0                    

(5,184,981)     (4,806,405)     (4,365,372)     (4,067,215)     (3,845,824)     
(160,783)        171,493         (39,780)          0                    0                    

Net change in total pension liability 3,382,237      2,773,986      7,776,329      3,566,525      2,738,362      
Total pension liability, beginning 85,192,868    82,418,882    74,642,553    71,076,028    68,337,666    

Total pension liability, ending (a) 88,575,105$  85,192,868$  82,418,882$  74,642,553$  71,076,028$  

Plan fiduciary net position
Contributions - employer(2) 2,350,438$    2,330,683$    1,619,070$    1,578,733$    1,527,445$    

Contributions - employee 1,210,003      1,221,711      1,178,166      1,163,946      1,140,706      

Net investment income 5,207,452      6,544,602      4,856,657      576,080         5,337,652      

(5,184,981)     (4,806,405)     (4,365,372)     (4,067,215)     (3,845,824)     
Transfers among employers (160,783)        171,493         (39,780)          41,498           (125,527)        

3,422,129      5,462,084      3,248,741      (706,958)        4,034,452      
Plan net position, beginning 57,203,288    51,741,204    48,492,463    49,199,421    45,164,969    

Plan net position, ending (b) 60,625,417$  57,203,288$  51,741,204$  48,492,463$  49,199,421$  

27,949,688$  27,989,580$  30,677,678$  26,150,090$  21,876,607$  

68.45% 67.15% 62.78% 64.97% 69.22%

Covered-employee payroll (1) 15,514,540$  15,189,454$  14,888,056$  14,580,566$  14,200,725$  

Net pension liability (asset) as a percentage

180.15% 184.27% 206.06% 179.35% 154.05%

610,000$       600,000$       0$                  0$                  0$                  

     of employee contributions

     of the covered-employee payroll

Net change in plan fiduciary net 
position

Net pension liability (asset), ending 
(a)-(b)

This schedule in intended to show information for 10 years. Additional years will be displayed as information becomes
available

(1) Covered payroll during the measurement period is the total payroll on which contributions to the pension plan are based.  For 
fiscal year 2018, the measurement period is October 1, 2017 ─ September 30, 2018.

     of the total pension liability

(2) Employer contributed more than the actuarially 
determined required contribution in the amount of

Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage

Differences between expected and

Benefit payments, including refunds

     actual experience

Transfers among employers

     of employee contributions

Benefit payments, including refunds

57

DRAFT



City of Mountain Brook, Alabama

Required Supplementary Information

Schedule of Employer Contributions

Year Ended September 30

2019 2018 2017 2016 2015
Actuarially determined contribution 2,105,237$    1,761,249$    1,733,175$    1,617,545$    1,578,733$    

2,743,237      2,371,249      2,333,175      1,617,545      1,578,733      

Contributions deficiency (excess) (638,000)$      (610,000)$      (600,000)$      0$                  0$                  

Covered-employee payroll 16,180,854$  15,514,540$  15,189,454$  14,888,056$  14,580,566$  

Contributions as a percentage of 

   covered-employee payroll 16.95%          15.28%          15.36%          10.86%          10.83%          

Notes to Schedule

Methods and assumptions used to determine contribution rates
     for the period October 1, 2018 to September 30, 2019:
          Actuarial cost method Entry Age
          Amortization method Level percent closed
          Remaining amortization period (years) 28.4
          Asset valuation method Five year smoothed market
          Investment rate of return (discount rate) 7.700%

     Salary increases** 3.25─5.00%
     ** Includes inflation at 2.750%

Valuation date.  Actuarially determined contribution rates are calculated as of September 30, 2016, three years prior to the end of 
the fiscal year in which contributions are reported.

This schedule in intended to show information for 10 years. Additional years will be displayed as information becomes
available

Net of plan investment 
   expense, including inflation

Contributions in relation to the actuarially determined 
contribution

58

DRAFT



This page is blank intentionally.

DRAFT



City of Mountain Brook, Alabama
Other Post-Employment Benefits (OPEB)

Schedule of Changes in Net OPEB Liability and Related Ratios
Years Ended September 30,

2019 2018
Total OPEB Liability

Service cost 74,389$        73,276$          
Interest 197,709        175,070          
Differences between expected and actual experience 511,365               1,556,656 
Changes of assumptions 0                   (810,818)         
Benefit payments (351,303)       (343,392)         

Net change in total OPEB liability 432,160        650,792          

Total OPEB liability, beginning of year 5,824,487$   5,173,695       

Total OPEB liability, end of year (a) 6,256,647$   5,824,487$     

Plan Fiduciary Net Position
Contributions - employer 521,626$      520,436$        
Contributions - member 132,677        127,956          
Net investment income (loss) 166,117        (12,392)           
Benefit payments (351,303)       (343,392)         
Administrative expense (3,000)           (5,000)             

Net change in plan fiduciary net position 466,117        287,608          
Plan fiduciary net position, beginning of year 2,886,328$   2,598,720       

Plan fiduciary net position, end of year (b) 3,352,445$   2,886,328$     

Net OPEB liability, end of year (a) - (b) 2,904,202$   2,938,159$     

Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of the total OPEB liability 53.58% 49.56%

Covered-employee payroll 16,180,854   15,514,540$   

Net OPEB liability as a percentage of covered-employee payroll 17.95% 18.94%

Notes to Schedule:

This schedule is intended to show information for 10 years. Additional years will be displayed as
information becomes available.

Benefit Changes.  There were no changes of benefit terms for the year ended September 30, 2019.

Changes of Assumptions. There were no changes of assumptions for the year ended September 30,
2019.

60

DRAFT



City of Mountain Brook, Alabama
Other Post-Employment Benefits (OPEB)

Schedule of Employer Contributions
Years Ended September 30,

2019 2018
Actuarially determined contribution 234,141$       213,281$        
Contributions in relation to the actuarially determined contribution:

Employer contributions to trust 300,000         300,000          
Employer-paid retiree premiums 351,303         343,392          
Employer-paid expenses 3,000            5,000              

         654,303            648,392 

Contribution deficiency (excess) (420,162)$     (435,111)$       

Covered annual payroll 16,180,854$  15,514,540$   

Contributions as a percentage of covered employee payroll 4.04% 4.18%

Notes to Schedule:
Valuation date 10/1/2018

Actuarial cost method Individual Entry Age Normal

Amortization method Level dollar, open

Amortization period 30 years

Asset valuation method Market value

Inflation 2.5% annually

Health care trend 5.5% annually

Salary increases 3.0% annually

Discount rate

Retirement age

Mortality RP-2000 without projections, 50% unisex blend

Turnover

This schedule in intended to show information for 10 years. Additional years will be
displayed as information becomes available

Actuarilly determined contributions are calculated as of the 
last day of the fiscal year in which contributions are reported

Three (3) years after the earliest of 1) 30 years of service or 
2) attainment of age 60 and 15 years of service with the City.  
Eligibility for benefits ceases upon the earlier of 13 years after 
retirement and/or Medicare eligiblility.  Employees hired on or 
after January 1, 2013, are not eligible to retire before age 62 
for civilians and 57 for sworn police officers and firefighters.

 3.5% annually (Beginning of Year to Determine the 
Actuarially Determined Contributions (ADC)) 

 3.5% annually (As of End of Year Measurement Date) 

Age specific table with an average of 7.5% when applied to 
the active census

61

DRAFT



2019 2018 2017 2016
Annual money-weighted rate of return, net 
   of investment expense 5.73% -0.46% -0.10% 5.15%

Interest income (accrual basis) (A) 67,677$         56,837$         47,463$         42,790$         
Beginning market value 2,886,328$    2,598,720$    2,301,227$    1,900,232$    
Investment 300,000$       300,000$       300,000$       300,000$       
Date of deposit 9/16/2019 6/18/2018 6/13/2017 7/22/2016
Ending marking value 3,352,445$    2,886,328$    2,598,720$    2,301,227$    
Weighted average market value (B) 2,904,206$    2,680,668$    2,390,067$    1,976,925$    

Yield (A)/(B) 2.33% 2.12% 1.99% 2.16%

City of Mountain Brook, Alabama
Other Post-Employment Benefits (OPEB)

Schedule of Investment Returns
Ten (10) Years Ended September 30, 2010 through 2019

62

DRAFT



 

2015 2014 2013 2012 2011 2010

1.75% 0.75% 1.69% 1.78% 2.51% 3.02%

22,583$         18,161$         16,425$         11,762$         10,550$         6,704$           
1,571,336$    1,261,499$    925,335$       613,573$       403,024$       196,320$       

300,000$       300,000$       320,000$       300,000$       200,000$       200,000$       
6/29/2015 8/4/2014 8/27/2013 8/3/2012 8/29/2011 8/13/2010

1,900,232$    1,571,336$    1,261,499$    925,335$       613,573$       403,024$       
1,655,137$    1,309,884$    956,649$       662,978$       421,483$       223,503$       

1.36% 1.39% 1.72% 1.77% 2.50% 3.00%

DRAFT



This page is blank intentionally.

DRAFT



SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

DRAFT



City of Mountain Brook, Alabama

Combining Balance Sheet
Other Governmental Funds

September 30, 2019

Seven Four Five Two Ten
Cent Cent Cent Cent Cent

ASSETS

Cash and temporary
investments 43,319$            171,373$          167,229$          13,891$            0$                     

Receivables 20,364              11,807              5,818                0                       0                       

TOTAL ASSETS 63,683$            183,180$          173,047$          13,891$            0$                     

LIABILITIES
Accounts payable 0$                     0$                     0$                     0$                     10$                   

TOTAL LIABILITIES 0                       0                       0                       0                       10                     

FUND BALANCES
Restricted 63,683              183,180            173,047            13,891              0                       
Assigned 0                       0                       0                       0                       0                       
Unassigned 0                       0                       0                       0                       (10)                    

TOTAL FUND BALANCES 63,683              183,180            173,047            13,891              (10)                    

TOTAL LIABILITIES   
  AND FUND BALANCES 63,683$            183,180$          173,047$          13,891$            0$                     

State Shared Gasoline Tax Funds

65

DRAFT



Emergency Debt
Communication Corrections Service

District Fund Fund Totals

208,240$          15,485$       2,044,044$  2,663,581$  
31,791              0                  0                  69,780         

240,031$          15,485$       2,044,044$  2,733,361$  

2,320$              15,485$       0$                17,815$       

2,320                15,485         0                  17,815         

237,711            0                  0                  671,512       
0                       0                  2,044,044    2,044,044    
0                       0                  0                  (10)              

237,711            0                  2,044,044    2,715,546    

240,031$          15,485$       2,044,044$  2,733,361$  

DRAFT



City of Mountain Brook, Alabama

Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes
in Fund Balances ─ Other Governmental Funds

Year Ended September 30, 2019

State Shared Gasoline Tax Funds

Seven Four Five Two Ten
Cent Cent Cent Cent Cent

Revenues:    
Taxes 211,637$        132,124$        64,320$          4,934$            0$                   
Charges for services 0 0 0 0 0 
Fines and forfeitures 0 0 0 0 0 
Other operating revenues:

Investment earnings 192,478          2,999              2,653              216                 0                     

Total revenues 404,115          135,123          66,973            5,150              0                     

Expenditures:    
General government 0 0 0 0 0 
Public safety 0 0 0 0 0 
Street and sanitation 751,229          145,152          59,678            4,387              10                   

Total expenditures 751,229          145,152          59,678            4,387              10                   

Excess (deficiency) of revenues

  over expenditures (347,114)         (10,029)           7,295              763                 (10)                  

Other financing sources (uses):
Operating transfers in 125,000          0                     0                     0                     0                     

Operating transfers (out) 0                     0                     0                     0                     0                     

Total other financing
sources (uses) 125,000          0                     0                     0                     0                     

Excess (deficiency) of revenues
and other financing sources
over expenditures and other
financing uses (222,114)         (10,029)           7,295              763                 (10)                  

Fund balances,

beginning of year 285,797          193,209          165,752          13,128            0                      

FUND BALANCES,

    END OF YEAR 63,683$          183,180$        173,047$        13,891$          (10)$                

66

DRAFT



 

 
 
 

Emergency Debt
Communication Corrections Service Totals

District Fund Fund Fund

0$                   0$              0$                 413,015$      
385,135 46,800 0 431,935 

0 126,269 0 126,269 

2,721              379            44,734          246,180        

387,856          173,448     44,734          1,217,399     

0 345,508 269 345,777 
379,976 121,848 0 501,824 

0                     0                0                   960,456        

379,976          467,356     269               1,808,057     

7,880              (293,908)    44,465          (590,658)      

0                     293,908     416,320        835,228        
0                     0                0                   0                   

0                     293,908     416,320        835,228        

7,880              0                460,785        244,570        

229,831          0                1,583,259     2,470,976     

237,711$        0$              2,044,044$   2,715,546$   

DRAFT



City of Mountain Brook, Alabama

Combining Balance Sheet ─ Capital Projects Funds
September 30, 2019

City Infrastructure Village
Capital Improvement Trail System
Projects Projects Projects Totals

ASSETS
Cash and temporary

investments 12,808,905$  3,508,182$    802,426$       17,119,513$  
Receivables 5,248             0                    167,423         172,671         
Inventory and prepaid expenses 0                    0                    28,338           28,338           

TOTAL ASSETS 12,814,153$  3,508,182$    998,187$       17,320,522$  

LIABILITIES
Accounts payable 56,712$         56,671$         57,467$         170,850$       

TOTAL LIABILITIES 56,712           56,671           57,467           170,850         

FUND BALANCES
Nonspendable 0                    0                    28,338           28,338           
Committed 12,757,441    3,451,511      912,382         17,121,334    

TOTAL FUND BALANCES 12,757,441    3,451,511      940,720         17,149,672    

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND
      FUND BALANCES 12,814,153$  3,508,182$    998,187$       17,320,522$  

67

DRAFT



City of Mountain Brook, Alabama

Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes
in Fund Balances ─ Capital Projects Funds

Year Ended September 30, 2019

City Infrastructure Village
Capital Improvement Trail System
Projects Projects Projects Totals

Revenues:    
Grants 0$                   11,200$          296,501$        307,701$        
Other operating revenues:

Investment earnings (losses) 630,733          34,842            8,554              674,129          

Total revenues 630,733          46,042            305,055          981,830          

Expenditures:    
General government 103,809 275,970 0 379,779 
Public safety 950,324 0 0 950,324 
Street and sanitation 154,154 457,431 641,343 1,252,928 
Recreational 47,021 511,976 0 558,997 

Library 96,695            0                     0                     96,695            

Total expenditures 1,352,003       1,245,377       641,343          3,238,723       

Excess (deficiency) of revenues

  over expenditures (721,270)         (1,199,335)      (336,288)         (2,256,893)      

Other financing sources (uses):
Operating transfers in 2,894,510       1,873,737       393,800          5,162,047       
Operating transfers (out) 0                     0                     0                     0                     
Proceeds from the sale of assets 85,921            0                     0                     85,921            

Donations 0                     553,193          0                     553,193          

Total other financing

sources (uses) 2,980,431       2,426,930       393,800          5,801,161       

Excess of revenues and other
financing sources over
expenditures and other
financing uses 2,259,161       1,227,595       57,512            3,544,268       

Fund balances, beginning
of year 10,498,280     2,223,916       883,208          13,605,404     

FUND BALANCES, 

END OF YEAR 12,757,441$   3,451,511$     940,720$        17,149,672$   

68

DRAFT



2010 2011 2012 2013

Taxes

Real property 14,322,580$   13,890,843$   13,873,635$   13,512,485$   
Sales and use 7,854,903 8,476,522 9,112,494 9,578,337 
Utility 1,450,440 1,460,206 1,365,487 1,284,421 
Personal property 

(automobiles) 1,047,869 1,079,079 1,152,424 1,208,485 
Road and bridge 590,899 572,584 575,000 565,066 
Other 1,016,068       903,688          1,030,680       1,038,515       

Total taxes 26,282,759     26,382,922     27,109,720     27,187,309     

Licenses and permits
Business 2,130,822 2,165,612 2,223,912 2,492,623 
Construction permits 624,309 753,444 800,820 1,100,204 
Cable TV franchise fees 347,757 352,964 391,701 424,912 
Waterworks Board 159,242 207,939 216,090 216,839 
Other 64,720            60,310            61,928            62,115            

Total licenses and permits 3,326,850       3,540,269       3,694,451       4,296,693       

Intergovernmental 82,826 84,874 85,613 84,547 

Charges for services
Garbage fees 34,062 32,436 39,235 35,589 
Other 591,636          619,716          714,561          693,408          

Total charges for services 625,698          652,152          753,796          728,997          

Fines and forfeitures - court 514,542 529,522 446,682 559,465 

Grants 19,708 282,423 12,062 15,755 

Other operating revenue
Investment earnings 207,214 131,706 199,151 138,162 
Other 254,173          300,657          278,880          439,492          

Total other operating
revenue 461,387          432,363          478,031          577,654          

TOTAL REVENUES 31,313,770$   31,904,525$   32,580,355$   33,450,420$   

City of Mountain Brook, Alabama

Schedule of General Fund Revenues by Source
For the Years Ended September 30, 2010 through 2019

69

DRAFT



2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

13,867,794$   13,994,315$   14,443,548$   15,155,623$   15,570,510$   16,179,118$   
9,808,223 10,158,557 10,285,530 10,656,090 10,703,490 11,041,853     
1,288,163 1,325,088 1,283,444 1,253,385 1,266,010 1,362,195       

1,217,199 1,306,732 1,392,583 1,382,497 1,286,922 1,269,323       
550,686 596,475 604,774 627,182 646,115 671,896          

1,127,178       1,238,322       1,506,051       1,810,442       2,069,420       2,615,515       

27,859,243     28,619,489     29,515,930     30,885,219     31,542,467     33,139,900     

2,531,307 2,679,512 2,815,615 3,046,371 2,991,535 2,995,790       
1,347,583 1,143,394 1,119,259 1,076,879 1,160,304 1,501,218       

389,500 423,068 432,600 412,824 396,782 392,537          
192,875 215,518 208,099 254,138 219,051 237,503          
65,154            63,674            65,373            65,909            66,127            69,850            

4,526,419       4,525,166       4,640,946       4,856,121       4,833,799       5,196,898       

85,443 92,199 92,199 185,943 189,926 160,291          

34,086 33,890 29,175 30,977 29,948 32,395            
730,347          695,790          688,534          678,795          628,736          735,008          

764,433          729,680          717,709          709,772          658,684          767,403          

577,844          643,492          575,406          586,293          514,978          461,595          

100,187          53,653            18,438            111,680          29,486            96,880            

69,522 150,668 170,543 109,327 183,834 575,961          
311,374          296,044          316,717          269,692          363,255          294,378          

380,896          446,712          487,260          379,019          547,089          870,339          

34,294,465$   35,110,391$   36,047,888$   37,714,047$   38,316,429$   40,693,306$   

DRAFT



City of Mountain Brook, Alabama

Comparative Balance Sheet ─ General Fund
September 30

2019 2018

ASSETS   
Cash and temporary investments 16,812,126$    15,969,944$    
Cash and temporary investments - restricted 243,148           240,198           
Receivables 2,194,813        2,064,090        
Due from related organizations 4,144               0                      
Inventory and prepaid expenses 213,555           238,731           

TOTAL ASSETS 19,467,786$    18,512,963$    

LIABILITIES
Accounts payable 670,075$         724,307$         
Accrued salaries and wages 1,051,272        994,798           
Due to related organizations 60,150             61,134             

Other liabilities 716,975           688,516           

TOTAL LIABILITIES 2,498,472        2,468,755        

PENSION OBLIGATION (NOTE 5)
OPEB OBLIGATION (NOTE 6)

FUND BALANCES
Nonspendable 213,555           238,731           
Restricted 0                      0                      
Committed 51,930             51,930             
Assigned 170,764           188,792           

Unassigned 16,533,065      15,564,755      

FUND BALANCES 16,969,314      16,044,208      

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCES 19,467,786$    18,512,963$    

70

DRAFT



2019 2018

Revenues:   
Taxes 33,139,900$      31,542,467$      
Licenses and permits 5,196,898          4,833,799 
Intergovernmental 160,291             189,926 
Charges for services 767,403             658,684 
Fines and forfeitures 461,595             514,978 
Grants 96,880               29,486               

Other operating revenues 870,339             547,089             

Total revenues 40,693,306        38,316,429        

Expenditures:   
 Current (operating):

General government 6,722,502          7,505,247          
Public safety 15,870,133        15,065,849        
Street and sanitation 6,741,476          6,463,645          
Recreational 1,347,910          1,310,401          

Library 3,269,996          3,239,382          

Total expenditures 33,952,017        33,584,524        

Excess of revenues over expenditures 6,741,289          4,731,905          

Other financing sources (uses):
Operating transfers (out) (5,997,275)         (4,259,151)         
Operating transfers in - component unit 70,841               75,626 

Donations 110,251             34,126               

Total other financing sources (uses) (5,816,183)         (4,149,399)         

Excess of revenues and other financing sources
over expenditures and other financing uses 925,106             582,506             

Fund balances, beginning of year 16,044,208        15,461,702        

FUND BALANCES, END OF YEAR 16,969,314$      16,044,208$      

City of Mountain Brook, Alabama
Comparative Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and

Changes in Fund Balances ─ General Fund
Years Ended September 30

71

DRAFT



City of Mountain Brook, Alabama

Comparative Balance Sheet ─ Capital Projects Funds
September 30

2019 2018

ASSETS   
Cash and temporary investments 17,119,513$    13,627,486$    
Receivables 172,671           159,639           
Inventory and prepaid expenses 28,338             34,162             

TOTAL ASSETS 17,320,522$    13,821,287$    

LIABILITIES

Accounts payable 170,850$         215,883$         

TOTAL LIABILITIES 170,850           215,883           

PENSION OBLIGATION (NOTE 5)
OPEB OBLIGATION (NOTE 6)

FUND BALANCES
Nonspendable 28,338             34,162             
Restricted 0                      0                      

Committed 17,121,334      13,571,242      

FUND BALANCES 17,149,672      13,605,404      

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCES 17,320,522$    13,821,287$    

72

DRAFT



2019 2018

Revenues:   
Grants 307,701$           946,436$           

Other operating revenues 674,129             112,915             

Total revenues 981,830             1,059,351          

Expenditures:   
 Current (operating):

General government 379,779             128,829             
Public safety 950,324             1,337,681          
Street and sanitation 1,252,928          4,606,228          
Recreational 558,997             329,005             

Library 96,695               752,484             

Total expenditures 3,238,723          7,154,227          

Excess (deficiency) of revenues

  over expenditures (2,256,893)         (6,094,876)         

Other financing sources (uses):
Operating transfers in 5,162,047          4,016,160          
Operating transfers (out) 0                        0                        
Operating transfers in - component unit 0                        0                        
Proceeds from the sale of assets 85,921               0                        

Donations 553,193             32,836               

Total other financing sources (uses) 5,801,161          4,048,996          

Excess (deficiency) of revenues and other financing 
sources over expenditures and other financing uses 3,544,268          (2,045,880)         

Fund balances, beginning of year 13,605,404        15,651,284        

FUND BALANCES, END OF YEAR 17,149,672$      13,605,404$      

City of Mountain Brook, Alabama
Comparative Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and

Changes in Fund Balances ─ Capital Projects Funds
Years Ended September 30

73

DRAFT



City of Mountain Brook, Alabama

Comparative Balance Sheet ─ Debt Service Fund
September 30

2019 2018

ASSETS   
Cash and temporary investments 2,044,044$      1,583,259$      

TOTAL ASSETS 2,044,044$      1,583,259$      

LIABILITIES 0$                    0$                    

FUND BALANCES
Assigned 2,044,044        1,583,259        

FUND BALANCES 2,044,044        1,583,259        

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCES 2,044,044$      1,583,259$      

74

DRAFT



2019 2018

Revenues:   
Other operating revenues 44,734$          1,105$            

Total  revenues 44,734            1,105              

Expenditures:   
 Current (operating):

General government 269 0                     
Debt service:

Principal     0 0 

Interest 0                     0                     

Total expenditures 269                 0                     

Excess (deficiency) of revenues

  over expenditures 44,465            1,105              

Other financing sources (uses):

Operating transfers in 416,320          239,139          

Total other financing sources (uses) 416,320          239,139          

Excess (deficiency) of revenues and other 
financing sources over expenditures
 and other financing uses 460,785          240,244          

Fund balances, beginning of year 1,583,259       1,343,015       

FUND BALANCES, END OF YEAR 2,044,044$     1,583,259$     

City of Mountain Brook, Alabama
Comparative Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and

Changes in Fund Balance ─ Debt Service Fund
Years Ended September 30

75

DRAFT



This page is blank intentionally.

DRAFT



REPORT ON COMPLIANCE AND INTERNAL CONTROL

DRAFT



This page is blank intentionally.

DRAFT



 

 

 

 

 

 

Independent Auditors’ Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 
 and on Compliance and Other Matters Based on an Audit of Financial Statements  

Performed in Accordance with Government Auditing Standards 
 

To the Mayor and City Council 
City of Mountain Brook, Alabama 

We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States 
of  America  and  the  standards  applicable  to  financial  audits  contained  in  Government  Auditing 
Standards  issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the financial statements of the 
governmental  activities,  the  discretely  presented  component  unit,  each  major  fund,  and  the 
aggregate remaining fund information of the City of Mountain Brook, Alabama (the City), as of and 
for the year ended September 30, 2019, and the related notes to the financial statements, which 
collectively comprise the City’s basic financial statements and have issued our report thereon dated 
DATE  PENDING.  The  financial  statements  of  the  Mountain  Brook  Library  Foundation  (the 
Foundation), which represents the City’s discretely presented component unit, were not audited in 
accordance with Governmental Auditing  Standards,  and  accordingly,  this  report  does not  include 
reporting  on  internal  control  over  financial  reporting  or  instances  of  reportable  noncompliance 
associated with the Foundation. 

Internal Control over Financial Reporting 

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the City’s internal 
control  over  financial  reporting  (internal  control)  to  determine  the  audit  procedures  that  are 
appropriate  in  the  circumstances  for  the  purpose  of  expressing  our  opinions  on  the  financial 
statements,  but  not  for  the  purpose  of  expressing  an  opinion  on  the  effectiveness  of  the  City’s 
internal  control.  Accordingly,  we  do  not  express  an  opinion  on  the  effectiveness  of  the  City’s 
internal control. 

A  deficiency  in  internal  control  exists  when  the  design  or  operation  of  a  control  does  not  allow 
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, 
or detect and correct, misstatements on a  timely basis. A material weakness  is  a deficiency, or a 
combination  of  deficiencies,  in  internal  control  such  that  there  is  a  reasonable  possibility  that  a 
material misstatement of the entity’s  financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and 
corrected, on a timely basis. A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, 
in  internal  control  that  is  less  severe  than  a material  weakness,  yet  important  enough  to merit 
attention by those charged with governance. 

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of 
this  section  and  was  not  designed  to  identify  all  deficiencies  in  internal  control  that  might  be 
material  weaknesses  or  significant  deficiencies  and  therefore, material  weaknesses  or  significant 
deficiencies may exist  that have not been  identified. Given these  limitations, during our audit we 
did not identify any deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be material weaknesses. We 

DRAFT



  

did  identify  certain  deficiencies  in  internal  control,  described  in  the  accompanying  schedule  of 
findings and responses as items 2019‐001 that we consider to be significant deficiencies. 

Compliance and Other Matters 
As part of obtaining  reasonable assurance about whether  the City’s  financial  statements are  free 
from material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, 
regulations,  contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and 
material  effect  on  the  determination  of  financial  statement  amounts.  However,  providing  an 
opinion on compliance with those provisions was not an objective of our audit, and accordingly, we 
do not express such an opinion. The results of our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or 
other matters that are required to be reported under Government Auditing Standards. 

Response to Findings 
The City’s response to the finding identified in our audit is described in the accompanying schedule 
of findings and questioned costs. The City’s response was not subjected to the auditing procedures 
applied in the audit of the financial statements and, accordingly, we express no opinion on it. 

Purpose of this Report 
The  purpose  of  this  report  is  solely  to  describe  the  scope  of  our  testing  of  internal  control  and 
compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
entity’s  internal control or on compliance. This report  is an  integral part of an audit performed in 
accordance with Government  Auditing  Standards  in  considering  the  entity’s  internal  control  and 
compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any other purpose. 

 

Birmingham, Alabama 
DATE PENDING 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

DRAFT



  

City of Mountain Brook 
  Schedule of Findings and Responses 
  For the Year Ended September 30, 2019 
 
2019‐001: Segregation of Duties 
 
Criteria:   Management  is  responsible  for  the  design,  implementation,  and  maintenance  of 

internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements 
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

Condition:   The City’s employees perform numerous functions that result in a lack of segregation of 
duties. This is a repeat finding.  

Cause:  Due to the limited number of people working in the finance department, certain critical 
duties are combined and assigned to available employees. 

Effect:  Lack of segregation of duties may result in the misstatement of financial information. 
 
Recommendation: 
To  the  extent  possible,  duties  should  be  segregated  to  serve  as  a  check  and  balance  on  employees’ 
integrity and to maintain the best control system possible. We suggest that the segregation of duties be 
reviewed and adjusted where possible to strengthen the system of internal control. 
 
Management’s response: 
The  City  agrees  with  this  finding.  The  duties  will  be  separated  as  much  as  possible  and  alternative 
controls will be used to compensate for lack of separation. 
 

DRAFT



MINUTE BOOK 91 

MOUNTAIN BROOK CITY COUNCIL 
PRE-MEETING DISCUSSION 

JANUARY 27,2020 

The City Council of the City of Mountain Brook, Alabama met in public session in the Pre-council 
Room (A106) of City Hall at 6:30 p.m. on the 27th day of January, 2020. The Council President called the 
meeting to order and the roll was called with the following results: 

Present: Virginia C. Smith, Council President 
William S. Pritchard 111, Council President Pro Tempore 
Philip E. Black 
Lloyd C. Shelton 
Alice B. Womack 
Stewart Welch 111, Mayor 

Absent: None 

Also present were City Attorney Steve Stine, City Manager Sam Gaston and City Clerk Steven Boone. 

1. AGENDA 

1. Fill Positions at ParkdRecreation-Shanda Williams (Resolution No. 2020-013 was added to the 
formal meeting agenda.) 

2. Traffic study proposal for Bethune and Oakdale-Richard Caudle of Skipper Consultants 
(Appendix 1). Skipper Consulting has looked at this intersection before and issued an informal 
opinion to the City that a turn signal was not warranted. Mr. Caudle suggested the intersection be 
studied and a formal report issued. Should the report support Skipper's previous opinion, the 
report may be used periodically a school officials and parents request similar studied in the future. 
The matter was tabled for further discussion pending Council member Pritchard's discussion with 
the School Superintendent. 

3. Freshwater Land Trust to update City Council on their Litter Gitter program-Sally LaRue, 
Outreach Coordinator of the Freshwater Land Trust (Appendix 2). The members of the City 
Council expressed their support for the project and plans to bring it back for formal consideration 
at its February 10,2020, meeting. 

4. Review of the other matters to be considered at the formal (7 p.m.) meeting 

2. ADJOURNMENT 

There being no hrther matters for discussion, Council President Smith adjourned the pre-meeting at 
approximately 6:55 p.m. 

January 27,2020 



62 MINUTE BOOK 91 

3. CERTIFICATION 

I, Steven Boone, City Clerk of the City of Mountain Brook, Alabama, certify the above is a true and 
correct synopsis of the discussion from the work session of the City Council of the City of Mountain Brook, 
Alabama held at City Hall, Pre-Council Room (A106) on January 27,2020, and that the meeting was duly 
called and held in all respects in accordance with the laws of the State of Alabama and bylaws of the City and 
that no formal action or votes were conducted at said work session. 

City Clerk 
Approved by City Council February 10,2020 

January 27,2020 



MINUTE BOOK 91 

MINUTES OF THE REGULAR OF THE 
CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF MOUNTAIN BROOK 

JANUARY 27,2020 

The City Council of the City of Mountain Brook, Alabama and met in public session in the City Hall 
Council Chamber at approximately 7:00 p.m. on the 27th day of January, 2020. The Council President called 
the meeting to order and the roll was called with the following results: 

Present: Virginia C. Smith, Council President 
William S. Pritchard 111, Council President Pro Tempore 
Philip E. Black 
Lloyd C. Shelton 
Alice B. Womack 
Stewart Welch 111, Mayor 

Absent: None 

Also present were City Attorney Steve Stine, City Manager Sam Gaston and City Clerk Steven Boone. 

The Council President stated that a quorum was present and that the meeting was open for the 
transaction of business 

1. RECOGNITION OF GUESTS 

Council President Smith recognized four Boy Scouts from Troops 53 and 86. 

2. CONSENT AGENDA 

Council President Smith announced that the following matters will be considered at one time on the 
consent agenda provided no one in attendance objects: 

Approval of the minutes of the January 13,2019, regular meeting of the City 
Council 

2020-012 Award the bid for the purchase of one Tactical Electronics Exhibit 1, 
CORE Pole camera kit and Under Door Camera Head (B- Appendix 1 
20 19 12 10-598) for the Police Department 

2020-013 Authorize the creation on one (1) laborer position for the Parks Exhibit 2, 
and Recreation Department to be filled at the discretion of the Appendix 2 
City Manager 

2020-014 Authorize the execution of an agreement with ClasTran for Exhibit 3, 
public transportation services Appendix 3 

2020-015 Recommend to the State of Alabama, Alcoholic Beverage Exhibit 4, 
Control Board, the issuance of a 020 - Restaurant Retail Liquor Appendix 4 
license to sol Y Luna Group, LLC (trade name: Sol Y Luna 
Restaurant), 920 Lane Parke Court, Mountain Brook, AL 35223 

Thereupon, the foregoing minutes and resolutions were introduced by Council President Smith and a 
motion for their immediate adoption made by Council member Shelton. The minutes and resolutions were 
then considered by the City Council. Council member Womack seconded the motion to adopt the foregoing 
minutes and resolutions. Then, upon the question being put and the roll called, the vote was recorded as 
follows: 

J:Ulinutes & Agendas\Counci1\2020\20200127 Minutesdoc January 27,2020 



MINUTE BOOK 91 68 

Ayes: Virginia C. Smith, Council President 
William S. Pritchard 111, Council President Pro Tempore 
Philip E. Black 
Lloyd C. Shelton 
Alice B. Womack 

Nays: None 

Abstained: None 

Council President Smith thereupon declared that said minutes and resolutions (Nos. 2020-0 12 through 
2020-01 5) were adopted by a vote of 5 - 4  that and as evidence thereof she signed the same. 

3. PUBLIC HEARING: CONSIDERATION OF AN ORDINANCE (NO. 2065) AUTHORIZING 
THE INSTALLATION OF TRAFFIC BOLLARDS ALONG BEECH CIRCLE NEAR THE 
CITY LIMITS WITH BIRMINGHAM AND PROHIBITING NORTHBOUND TRAFFIC 
BEYOND THAT POINT AND INSTALLING NO THRU TRAFFIC SIGNS ALONG BEECH 
CIRCLE (EXHIBIT 5, APPENDK 5) 

The ordinance was introduced in writing by Council President Smith who then invited comments from 
proponents of the proposed ordinance. 

Michael (Mike) Roy of 237 Beech Circle stated that he supports the proposed change. 

Chase Elmore of 224 Beech Circle stated that he supports the proposed change. 

Susan Pitts of 229 Beech Circle stated that he supports the proposed change. 

Caley Whatley of 205 Beech Street 
Limiting traffic will benefit the children 
Has 3 children (10,8, and 5 years of age) 
Motorists drive too fast and do not stop at the stop sign 
Urged the Council to implement the proposed changes 

Arthur Hontzas of 207 Beech Street 
This issue was brought to the City Council in 2001 and many remediation measures were 
considered 
Motorists continue to drive the wrong way down Beech Circle. As recently as yesterday he 
encountered a Jefferson County truck coming into Beech from Montclair Road. 
There have been numerous car break-in and thefts along the street presumably due to its easy 
access 
Has observed an increase in traffic since the Tapestry Apartments opened 

Richard Caudle with Skipper Consulting (in response to a question posed by Council member 
S helton) 

In May 20 16 Skipper reported that 199 vehicles over a seven day measurement period were 
observed driving the wrong way 
In October 201 8 Skipper reported that 1 18 vehicles over a seven day measurement period were 
observed driving the wrong way 

Nancy Seymour of 54 Fairway Drive 
Asked the City to observe the people on their way to church speeding along the road 
The speed of motorist is frightening 

Maria Reuther of 2 12 Beech Circle 
Would love for the children in this neighborhood to be able to ride their bikes along this road 

J:\Minutes & Agendas\Counci1\2020\20200127 Minutes.doc January 27,2020 



MINUTE BOOK 91 69 

Even if closed, there are 35-40 vehicles owned by residents that will still be traveling this road 
Her worst nightmare is that a child be hit by a motorist 
Questioned whether the signs and other obstacles residents are placing in the roadway are legal 
These distractions intended to slow traffic pose a distraction to motorists which could lead to an 
accident 
[Such signs do not conform to the Uniform Traffic Control Manual and therefore not recognized] 

Karly Martin of 224 Beech Street 
Very much in support of closing the street 
Cars driving the wrong tend to drive faster so as not to get caught 
Recently rolled a trash can in the road to slow traffic 
Traffic has increased significantly over the last nine years since the Tapestry opened 
Supports anything that can be done to slow and reduce traffic along Beech Circle 

Matthew Mizzell of 21 8 Beech Street 
People do not stop at the stop sign 
Claims that even mowing his front yard is difficult due to traffic 
Supports any measures that make the street safer 

Grahame Read of 208 Beech Circle 
Favors closing the street 
When new residents move in, for the first 4-6 weeks their kids ride their bikes in the road. Soon 
they realize how dangerous the street is and stop riding their bikes 
Residents have to place signs and trash cans in the street to slow traffic 
Views church traffic as a major contributor to the traffic 

Jenny Mizzell of 2 1 8 Beech Street 
Agrees with everything said previously 
Part of the issue is people texting while they drive along Beech Circle 

Justin Mitchell of 228 Beech Circle 
Motorist become belligerent when asked to slow down 
25 mph is too fast for this narrow road. Please consider lowering the speed limit to 15 mph. 
His 7 year old son wants to learn to ride a bike but c a ~ o t  not due to the traffic 

Zella Martin of 224 Beech Street 
Recently received a moped but does not feel safe to ride it due to the traffic 

George Carboni of 20 years at the comer of Beech Circle and Beech Street 
Has had three cars broken into (one of which was stolen) 
Recently observed a young parent from Tapestry walking their baby in a stroller along Beech 
Circle. This change will make their walks safer too. 

Cullen Chew of 2 1 1 Beech Street 
Spoke with Chief Keely in 1992 or 1993 about this issue 
This problem is only going to get worse 

Father Bob Sullivan of St. Francis Xavier Catholic Church 
Has been a member since1966 and pastor for the past 13 years 
Has also been struck by a vehicle as a child (in another neighborhood) so knows the feeling 
Cannot speak as to whether his parishioners are speeding along Beech Circle on their way to 
church 
Most of the people coming in from Euclid and Beech are residents of Mountain Brook 
The church has over 7,000 members 

J:\Minutes & Agendas\Counci1\2020\20200 127 Minutes.doc January 27,2020 



70 MINUTE BOOK 91 

In 2000 the City of Birmingham allowed the church to condemn the road. Afterward, the road 
was closed. In response to parishioner complaints, the road was opened on an intermittent basis. 
Also, concerned about people speeding through the church parking lot 
The gate is closed from 9 am until about 3 pm daily (during school hours) and opened all 
weekend 
The gate is opened for funerals (approximately 4 5 4 7  annually) 
The church will support whatever decision the Council makes 
The next pastor could decide to close the road if he so chooses 

Council member Shelton (3855) 
There is clearly a problem with motorists driving the wrong way and with speed 
If Beech Circle is closed, believes the problem may not be solved but rather moved to Beech 
Street 
In order to truly solve the problem, the private road must be closed 

Council member Black 
There is a similar situation at St. Luke's who has accommodated the neighbors by minimizing the 
times their gate is open 

Opponents of the proposed ordinance: 
John Peinhardt of 225 Beech Street 

There are 12 or so kids on Beech Circle 
If cars are speeding along Beech Circle with a 90 and one 45 degree turns, what will they do 
along Beech Street? 

Council President Smith: 
If Beech Circle is closed and it causes problems along side streets, the City Council will address 
those concerns at the proper time 

Richard Caudle (44:OO) 
If Beech Circle is closed, there will likely be increased traffic along other streets 
In 2001 when Beech Circle was made one way, traffic along Beech Circle dropped from 1,100 to 
500 cars daily 60 of which moved to Xavier Circle 
Believes that if this change is made, the City will be discussing similar issues along Beech Street 
within months or a year or two 
Speed is not necessarily the problem but rather traffic volume 
There is really not a speeding problem on Beech Circle with the average speed being 
approximately 2 1-23 mph 
In 2016 there were 14 cars observed over a one week period traveling over 30 mph. In October 
20 1 8, that number increased to 105 vehicles. 
Speed humps might help slow a few very fast cars but have no effect on volume 

Cole Simon of 219 Beech Street 
Favors anything that reduced the total amount of traffic 
Does the congregations' convenience take precedence over the safety of the children 
Can we not just ask the church to close the gates? 

Sarah Peinhardt of 225 Beech Street 
Has three small children 
Loves having neighborhood kids playing in her front yard 
In concerned that this change is going to move speeding traffic to neighboring street 

Council member Black: 
The City Council is here to solve problems. If this solution results in other problems, those other 
problems will be addressed accordingly. Tonight's problem is Beech Circle. 

J:\Minutes & Agendas\Counci1\2020\20200127 Minutes-doc January 27,2020 



MINUTE BOOK 91 

Caley Whatley of 205 Beech Street 
If nothing is done with respect to Beech Circle, nothing will change 
There is no easy solution 
Does not feel comfortable with her children walking along Beech Circle 
The street is narrow and does not have sidewalks 

Camille Price of 230 Beech Street 
, Has had her side mirrors hit by motorists multiple times 

Has had her car broken into more than once 
This closure will increase trafic on Beech Street 
There is not a clear solution presented right now 
Thinks the issue needs more work 

Randall Pitts of 225 Beech Circle (55:ll) 
These four streets represent a neighborhood 
We want the best result for all 
As reported in the 2001 Skipper report, when Beech Circle was made one-way, traffic volume on 
Beech Circle decreased 54%, Peachtree/Ross Drive dropped by 22%, Beach Street at Euclid 
dropped by 5 I%, Hagood Street dropped by 7% 
Unfortunately, since 200 1 traffic has increased significantly 
Believes the 2001 suggests that traffic will not be diverted to Xavier Circle by way of Beech 
Street 

Olivia Downard of 240 Beech Circle 
So many cars speed along Beech Circle 
Has almost been hit on numerous occasions 
Considers the current conditions dangerous 

McClain Pitts of 225 Beech Circle 
Proposes the road be closed at least temporarily to see what happens with traffic 

Sam Downard of 240 Beech Circle 
Does not feel safe riding his bike even in his driveway 
Motorists do not realize kids are playing in the street 

James Stuckey IV of 107 Foxhall Road (1 :00:05) 
Last Sunday, observed a friend riding a scooter almost hit by a motorist driving the speed limit 

There being no comments or questions, President Smith closed the public hearing. 

Council President Pro Tempore Pritchard: 
This issue has been discussed numerous times over the last 19 years and apparently even before 
that 
There have been numerous ideas considered over the years 
This is a very complicated matter 
The only reason the street was not closed when it was made one-way was to accommodate 
emergency traffic accessing the hospital which has since closed 
This matter has been put off for too long 
The Circle should have been closed off a long time ago 
Will there be some ramifications? Likely so, which will have to be addressed at a later time. 
Is guilty of using the road to go the airport but never returns home that way so is affected but is 
not bothered by the change 

Council President Smith made a motion that all rules and regulations which, unless suspended, would 
prevent the immediate consideration and adoption of said ordinance be suspended, and that unanimous consent 

J:Winutes & Agendas\Counci1\2020\20200127 Minutes-doc January 27,2020 



72 MINUTE BOOK 91 

to the immediate consideration of said ordinance is given and that the reading of the ordinance at length be 
waived. The motion was seconded by Council member Black. Thereupon, Council President Smith called for 
vote with the following results: 

Ayes: Virginia C. Smith 
William S. Pritchard, I11 
Philip E. Black 
Lloyd C. Shelton 
Alice B. Womack 

Nays: None 

The Council President Smith declared the motion passed by a vote of 5 - 4 .  

After said ordinance had been considered in full by the Council, Council President Pro Tempore 
Pritchard moved for the adoption of said ordinance. The motion was seconded by Council member Black. 

Council member Shelton 
If southbound traffic is eliminated, can the City enforce compliance to which Chief Cook 
responded that enforcement efforts can be periodically increased. 

Steve Stine, City Attorney 
There are several issues that must be coordinated with the City of Birmingham 
Consequently, there needs to be some time before the ordinance takes effect 

There being no further comments, Council President Smith called for vote with the following results: 

Ayes: Virginia C. Smith 
William S. Pritchard, I11 
Philip E. Black 
Lloyd C. Shelton 

Nays: Alice B. Womack 

The Council President Smith declared that the said ordinance (No. 2065) is hereby adopted by a vote 
of 4-1 and, as evidence thereof, she signed the same. 

4. ANNOUNCEMENTS 

The next regular meeting of the City Council will be February 10,2020, at 7:00 p.m. in the Council 
Chamber of City Hall located at 56 Church Street, Mountain Brook, AL 35213. 

5. ADJOURNEMENT 

There being no further business or matters for discussion, Council President Smith adjourned the 
meeting at approximately 8: 10 p.m. 

5. CERTIFICATION 

I, Steven Boone, City Clerk of the City of Mountain Brook, Alabama, certify the above is a true and 
correct transcript of the regular meeting of the City Council of the City of Mountain Brook, Alabama held at 
City Hall, Council Chamber (Room A108) on January 13,2020, and that the meeting was duly called and held 
in all respects in accordance with the laws of the State of Alabama and bylaws of the City and that a quorum 
was present. 

City Clerk 

January 27,2020 



RESOLUTION NO. 2020-016 

WHEREAS, for over a decade, a number of Greater Birmingham entities have worked together 
on a plan to install in-stream litter collection devices in urban streams. 

WHEREAS, Osprey Initiative, the creator of the "Litter Gitter" device, emerged as a new 
company, and in December 2019, the first Birmingham "Litter Gitter" was installed in Valley Creek 
thanks to River Network, Coca-Cola Foundation, the City of Birmingham, and other partners. 

WHEREAS, to continue the fight against litter in our local waterways, support fiom community 
partners is critical. We need more "Litter Gitter Gettersy' and the installation of more devices to combat 
litter effectively. 

WHEREAS, this project is focused specifically in the Greater Birmingham area as litter fiom 
storm water systems finds its way into urban streams. In 201 7, ALDOT spent $6.8 million to clean up 
trash on roadways, and Alabama was ranked as the 16th dirtiest state in the 20 14 American State Litter 
Scorecard. "Getters" getting ''Litter Gitters" for their urban streams will help make Alabama a cleaner 
state. 

WHEREAS, "Gettersy' will be listed as project supporters on the Freshwater Land Trust's 
website, as well as on presentations and proposals to potential funders. "Getters" are also encouraged to 
help recruit additional supporters. 

NOW, THEREFORE, be it resolved that the Mayor and City Council, on behalf of all the 
residents of Mountain Brook, do hereby encourage and applaud the Freshwater Land Trust's efforts to 
clean up litter in our local waterways. 

ADOPTED: The 10th day of February, 2020. 

Council President 

APPROVED: The 10th day of February, 2020. 

Mayor 

CERTIFICATION 

I, Steven Boone, City Clerk of the City of the City of Mountain Brook, Alabama, hereby certify 
the above to be a true and correct copy of a resolution adopted by the City Council of the City of 
Mountain Brook at its meeting held on February 10,2020, as same appears in the minutes of record of 
said meeting. 

City Clerk 

Freshwater Land Trust Litter Gitter 



freshwater 
LAND TRUST 

Litter Gitter Project in Greater Birmingham - What? 
Litter Gitters are small stream litter collection 
devices used to intercept floating litter from 
stormwater runoff. 

Who? 

I 
- Osprey lnitiative is the creator and 
contractor of the Litter Gitter devices. 

- Freshwater Land Trust (FLT) is leading 
efforts to facilitate partnerships in Greater 
Birmingham to install more devices. 

How? 
- FLT submitted a grant to the EPA proposing five devices over three years. 
- Sponsorship from corporations, cities, and other community partners are needed to 

secure long-term maintenance. 

When? 
- The pilot project Litter Gitter is in place until March 5th, 2020. 
- EPA grant recipients will be notified in June 2020. 

Why? 
- In 2017, ALDOT spent $6.8 million to clean up trash on roadways, and Alabama was 

ranked as the 16th dirtiest state in the 2014 American State Litter Scorecard. 
- Litter from stormwater runoff is a huge problem in the greater Birmingham area. 

Estimated Cost from Osprey lnitiative 
- Installation and maintenance cost for one device in the initial year: $25,000 
- Maintenance costs for 2nd year and beyond: $2,00O/month/device (524,000lyear) 

Data 
- From December 5 - 31 2019, Osprey 

removed 37.98 pounds of litter from Valley 
Creek (of which 17.94 lbs was recycled). 

- Osprey's initial tests of their devices indicate 
a 80+% success rate in preventing the 

L 
downstream loss of floating litter. 

Join us! 
Project supporters are listed on FLT's website. 
Will you join us as a "Litter Gitter Getter?" 
htt~://freshwaterlandtrust.ore/litter-eitterd 



Where? 
For the EPA grant: Birmingham, Bessemer, Vestavia, Homewood 
This covers both the Cahaba and Black Warrior River basins, and includes Valley Creek, Village Creek, Shades 
Creek, and Little Shades Creek 

-- 
I . .  

-dalhal Sib 

bbama Basln Stram 

W o r  Baaln Slreaw 
I]_--.- 

... 
- 4  Bessemer s -"+ 
4 



'IM&Llatliriirtm Posted on December 12,2019 

Freshwater Land Trust installs "Litter 
Gitter" at Valley Creek 

Freshwater Land Trust and Osprey Initiative installed a "Litter Gitter" a t  Valley Creek 
last week. Photo via Osprey Initiative on Facebook 

We all know litter is bad for the environment, yet it continues to be a problem. Last 
week, Freshwater Land Trust, Osprey Initiative, River Network and the City of 
Birmingham installed a "Litter Gitter" in Valley Creek to help with the issue. 

What's a Litter Gitter? 

A Litter Gitter is an in-stream litter collection device. It's a patented product of Omr& 
Initiative, an environmental contractor focused on sustainability efforts. The Litter 
Gitter collects litter from stormwater runoff. Initial tests indicate that the Litter Gitter 
has an 80 percent success rate in preventing downstream loss of floating litter. 

Osprey Initiative, led by Don Bates, has installed 33 Litter Gitters in seven watersheds 
across the Southeast. The group is responsible for installing and maintaining the devices 
and separating vegetative debris and recyclables from the trash collected. 

Why Does This Matter? 

Litter negatively impacts water quality-it's not something we want in our rivers and 
streams. Litter cleanup also casts U.S, t m m a ~ B I ~ I J L 0 ~  each year. 



More About the Valley Creek Litter Gitter 

The team that Land Trust 

The Valley Creek Litter Gitter will be in place for go days as part of a pilot program to 
assess the device's effectiveness in the Birmingham area. Funding from River Network 
and a grant from the Coca-Cola Foundation helped to make it Freshwater Land 
Trust hopes this is the first of many Litter Gitters to be installed in our area. 

"Freshwater Land Trust prioritizes protecting water, and we are proud to partner 
with organizations working towards the same goal. We hope this is thefirst of many 
Litters Gitters that will improve the health ofAlabama's rivers." -Rusha Smith, 
executive director, Freshwater Land Trust 

How To Get Involved 

Would you like to get involved with litter cleanup in our area? Jefferson County will 
provide the materials for you-cantaet thm fur mare infomtiaq. 

You can also support the work of Freshwater lLand lh@ by & i &  or volunt.eming. 

Let's keep our waterways beautiful, Birmingham! 



freshwater 
LAND TRUST 

Rusha C. Smith 
Executive Director 

rurhamith@re&waterlandtruSt.OTg 
205-417-2777 [office) s) 205-919-7071 (-10 

WOB First Avenue North Birmingham, AL 35203 

I 
E 

freshwater 
LAND TRUST 

Sally LaRue 
Outreach Coordinator 

sally.larue@reshwaterlandtrust.org 
M5417-2777 (office1 1 205-915-9076 (cell) 

2308 Fim Avenue North Birmingham, AL 35203 



RESOLUTION NO. 2020-017 

BE IT RESOLVED by the City Council of the City of Mountain Brook, Alabama, that 
either the Mayor or the City Manager of the City is hereby authorized and directed, for and on 
behalf of the City, to enter into a Contract with the Jefferson County Commission, in the form as 
attached hereto as Exhibit A, with respect to Photognunmetric Mapping and Orthoimagery 
Services. 

ADOPTED: This 1 0th day of February, 2020. 

- 

Council President 

APPROVED: This 10th day of February, 2020. 

Mayor 

CERTIFICATION 

I, Steven Boone, City Clerk of the City of the City of Mountain Brook, Alabama, hereby 
certify the above to be a true and correct copy of a resolution adopted by the City Council of the 
City of Mountain Brook at its meeting held on February 10,2020, as same appears in the minutes 
of record of said meeting. 

City Clerk 

Jefferson County Commission GIs Consortium 



CONTRACT FORM 

THIS AGREEMENT ("Agreement") made this day of , 2020, by and 
between, Jefferson County Commission, hereinafter referred to as the "COUNTY" or "Contract 
Administrator", with its offices at 716 Richard Arrington Jr. Blvd. N Birmingham, AL 35203 and The City 
of Mountain Brook, with its offices at 56 Church Street, Mountain Brook, AL 35213, hereinafter referred 
to as "Consortium Partner". 

I 

For the purposes of this Contract, the following terms are defined as 
follows: 
1. "Contract" means this 
Agreement. 
2. "Consortium Partner" means The City of Mountain 

Brook 

3. "Contract Administrator" means Jefferson County Commission, and its duly authorized 
representatives. 

CONTRACT AGREEMENT 

TERMS AND CONDITIONS 
Between 

Jefferson County Commission 
And 

The City of Mountain Brook, Alabama 

Contract No. #### 
Orthophotography and Planirnetric Data Cost Sharing 

Jefferson County, Alabama 

r 

WHEREAS, COUNlY and Consortium Partner mutually desire to maintain their existing GIs 
data sets through regular updates, and it is in the best interest of those served by COUNTY and 
Consortium Partner to financially share the cost of data acquisition updates; and 

WHEREAS, COUNTY has contracted with G Squared, LLC for three years (31, until December 31, 
2022, with an option to extend for one (I)  additional year, to migrate existing planimetric features from 100 
scale to 50 scale, to provide updated orthophotography and planimetric data; and 

WHEREAS, Consortium Partners who providing funding toward the project, through economies of 
scale, will be able to mutually obtain the countywide data sets at a significant savings compared to one 
agency contracting for the services as a single entity; and 

WHEREAS, Consortium Partner has committed funds toward the project as set forth in this 
AGREEMENT. 

ARTICLE I. PROJECT STATEMENT OF WORK (SOW1 

PROJECT: Jefferson County, Alabama 2020- 2022 Countywide 1" =50f Scale 
Photogrammetric Mapping and Orthoimagery Project SOW 

The objective of the project is to establish an intergovernmental funding consortium in order to obtain new 
digital color orthorectified aerial photography and updated planimetric data sets for Jefferson County, 



Alabama encompassing an area of approximately 11 53 square miles. The data will be used for 
infrastructure analysis and management, property valuation, law enforcement, emergency management, 
land and transportation planning, permitting, stormwater management, tax mapping, preliminary 
engineering, and to support other business processes within agency departments. The project area shall 
be defined as the geographic entirety of Jefferson County. 

The specifications for this project are in accordance with the Alabama Department of Revenue, Property 
Tax Division specifications (ADV-25), Effective June 2010. The products andlor services to be provided 
by COUNTY hereunder (hereinafter referred to collectively as "Deliverables") are defined below and are 
governed by the ALDOTIALDORINMAS specifications for 1" = 100' map accuracy standards 

Products andlor Services to Be Provided (Countywide): 

Color orthophotography with 3" resolution at 1" = 50' scale in Mr. Sid and gee-tiff format 
Planimetric Map features listed in Attachment B in Microstation and ESRl Geodatabase format 
Change Detection parcel layer with Excel Spreadsheet of parcel numbers 
Updated Terrain model data for the areas of change in ESRl shapefile format 

Schedule: 

Year I : 
January 15,2020 -Ground control and flight planning complete 
January 15,2020 - March 15,2020 -Aerial Acquisition complete 
October I, 2020-Orthophotography delivered 
December 31,2021 -Planimetric Updated where areas have changed delivered 
December31,2021 -Data migration of existing planimetric features from 100 scale to 50 scale (in 
progress) 

Year 2: 
January 15,2021 - Ground control and flight planning complete 
January 15,2021 - March 15,2021 - Aerial Acquisition complete 
October I ,202lOrthophotographyand Building Footprints updatedelivered 
December31,2021- Remaining Planimetric Updated (Areasofchange) delivered 
December 31,2021 Data migration of existing planimetricfeatures from 100scale to 50 scale (in 
progress) 

Year 3: 
January 15,2022- Ground control and flight planning complete 
January 15,2022- March 15,2022-Aerial Acquisition complete 
October 1,2022- Orthophotography and Building Footprints update delivered 
December 31,2022- Remaining Planimetric Updated (Areas of change) delivered 
December 31,2022 Data migration of existing planimetricfeatures from 100scale to 50 scale 
lcomplete) 

ARTICLE 2. INSPECTION 1 ACCEPTANCE 

Responsibility for final inspecting, approving and accepting equipment, software, data andlor services 
rendered by G Squared, LLC in the performance of the project deliverables shall rest solely with the 
COUNTY. Deliverables will be inspected for conformance with the project requirements prior to 
acceptance. 

Consortium Partner may elect, if they so desire, to participate in contributing to the inspection process. All 
requests for rework of any nonconforming deliverables will be provided in writing to the COUNTY within 
10 calendar days from receipt of the Deliverables. 

ARTICLE 3. CONSIDERATION 

consortium Partner will pay COUNTY an amount not to exceed Sixty Thousand Dollars and Zero 
Cents - $60,000.00. The price is in exchange for the COUNTY providing Consortium Partner a copy 
of received data products as delivered by G Squared, LLC under the Orthophotography and Planirnetric 
Mapping Update project. These products are being provided for the countywide acquisition of 

Jefferson County/Consortium Partner - GIS Data Page 2 January 29,2020 



orthophotography data and planimetric data set update according to ALDORIALDOT specification 
guidelines, orthorectified digital color aerial photography, photogrammetrically updated planimetric feature 
data sets, and LiDAR data sets. 

The SCHEDULE OF PAYMENTS to be made by Consortium Partner is as follows: 

For each calendar year, full payment is due to County by September 30. County shall submit its invoice 
by August 30th with payment due from Consortium Partner within 30 days. 

- In 2020, the Consortium Partner payments will not exceed $12,000 
- In 2021, the Consortium Partner payments will not exceed $20,000 - in 2022, the Consortium Partner payments will not exceed $28,000 

ARTICLE 4. TERM 
The duration of this contract shall not exceed four years from the date of its final execution or end of the 
Project, whichever first occurs. 

ARTICLE 5. TERMINATION 

This agreement can be terminated by the COUNTY or Consortium Partner upon a thirty (30) day written 
notice for any reason. Upon termination of this Agreement for any reason whatsoever, Consortium 
Partner shall retain all data provided by the COUNTY for which payment has been received from 
Consortium Partner by the COUNTY prior to the termination, but Consortium Partner will remove all data 
provided by the COUNTY from their respective computer systems for which payment has not been 
received from Consortium Partner by the COUNN. 

ARTICLE 6. RIGHT OF OWNERSHIP 

All items developed and delivered as a result of Article 3 under this AGREEMENT shall become the 
property of the funding partners as outlined below: 

Orthorectified digital color aerial photography (owned by Jefferson County, Consortium Partner). 
Each party retains full ownership in the data to use as it deems 
appropriate. 

Photogrammetrically updated Digital Terrain Model (owned by Jefferson County, Consortium 
Partner). Each party retains full ownership on the data to use as it deems appropriate. 

Photogrammetrically updated Planimetric mapping data layers (owned by Jefferson County). 
Consortium Partner is granted an exclusive use license to this data. This license provides that 
Consortium Partner shall use the Planimetric data for their respective internal business purposes 
and may be provided to consultants, contractors, etc. who are formally working for them. 

ARTICLE 7. CONFIDENTIALITY 

To the extent allowed by law, a Party may designate information to be deemed confidential because of 
considerations of individual privacy, safety and health, corporate proprietary claims, and other reasons in 
the best interests of the public or that would violate agreements with other entities. 

Neither party shall be liable in damages for any disclosures pursuant to judicial actions or for inadvertent 
disclosure where proper degree of care has been exercised; provided, that upon discovery of such 
disclosure, it shall have endeavored to prevent any further inadvertent disclosure. 

The receiving party shall not disclose or deliver, directly or indirectly, any technical data or product to any 
person to whom disclosure or delivery is prohibited by the U.S. Government nor export, directly or 
indirectly, any technical data or product to any county for which the U.S. Government or any agency 
requires an export license or Government approval without first obtaining such license or approval. 

ARTICLE 8. FORCE MAJEURE 

a. For the purpose hereof, force majeure shall be any of the following events: acts of God, compliance 
with any order, regulation, decree of governmental authority or agency purporting to act therefore, 
acts of war, public disorder, rebellion, terrorism or floods, hurricanes or other storms; or strikes or 

Jefferson County/Consortium Partner - GIS Data Page 3 January 29,2020 



disputes, or any other cause, not within the reasonable control of the party affected. 

b. A delay in or failure of performance of either COUNN or Consortium Partner shall not constitute a 
default hereunder nor be the basis for any claim for damages, if such delay or failure is caused by 
force majeure. 

c. The party prevented from performing by force majeure (i) shall be obligated within a period not to 
exceed 14 days after the occurrence or detection of such event to give notice to the other party 
setting forth in reasonable detail the nature therefore and the anticipated extent of the delay, and (ii) 
shall remedy such cause as soon as reasonably possible. 

ARTICLE 9. COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS 

Both parties shall comply with known and applicable laws, regulations, ordinances and other rules of 
governments and governmental agencies having jurisdiction over any portion of performance under this 
AGREEMENT. 

ARTICLE 10. WAIVERS 

Any failure by either party to enforce performance of the terms and conditions of this AGREEMENT shall 
not constitute a waiver of, or affect said party's right to avail itself of, such remedies as it may have for any 
subsequent breach of the terms of this AGREEMENT. 

ARTICLE 11. NOTICES 

Any notice or communication given pursuant to this AGREEMENT shall be in writing, as a document or in 
electronic form, and deemed received when delivered in person, electronic mail, facsimile, or sent prepaid 
via Express Mail, Federal Express or other private courier, or US certified mail, return receipt requested. 

Consortium Partner agrees that any data provided by County will be relied upon at its own risk. COUNTY 
will not be responsible for incidental, consequential, or special damages, or any other damages of 
any type or character arising out of the use of any data, information, or products which may be 
furnished by the COUNN. COUNTY does not warrant, either expressed or implied, of fitness of such 
data, information, or products for a particular purpose or any other use or purpose. 

ARTICLE 12. NO THIRD PARTIES BENEFITED 

This agreement is made and entered into solely for the benefit of the respective Parties, their successors 
and permitted assigns, and no other person or entity shall have any rights hereunder. 

ARTICLE 13. GOVERNING LAW 

This AGREEMENT shall be deemed to be a contract made under the laws of the State of Alabama and 
for all purposes it shall be construed in accordance with and governed by the laws of such state, 
conflict of law rules notwithstanding. 

ARTICLE 14. IMMIGRATION LAW COMPLIANCE 
By signing this Contract, the contracting parties affirm, for the duration of the Agreement, that they will 
not violate federal immigration law or knowingly employ, hire for employment, or continue to employ an 
unauthorized alien within the State of Alabama. Furthermore, a contracting party found to be in violation 
of this provision shall be deemed in breach of the agreement and shall be responsible for all damages 
resulting therefrom. 

ARTICLE 16. COMPLETE AGREEMENT 

This Agreement constitutes the entire AGREEMENT between the parties. This Agreement may only be 
amended by execution of a written bilateral amendment. 

ARTICLE 17. SEVERABILITY 

If any provision of this Agreement is declared by a court having jurisdiction to be illegal or in conflict 
with any law, the validity of the remaining terms and provisions shall not be affected; the rights and obligations 
of the parties shall be construed and enforced as if the agreement did not contain the particular provision held 
to be invalid. 

ARTICLE 18. COUNTERPARTS 

Jefferson County/Consortium Partner - CIS Data Page 4 January 29,2020 



This Agreement may be executed in counterparts, each of which shall constitute an original, and all of 
which together shall constitute one and the same document. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have caused this Agreement to be executed as of the day and year 
set forth below. 

The City of Mountain Brook, Alabama Jefferson County Commission 

Authorized Signature 

Printed Name 

Authorized Signature 

Printed Name 

Title Title 

Date 

Jefferson County/Consortium Partner - CIS Data 

Date 

Page 5 January 29,2020 


	2020-Feb-10 Agenda
	2  Required auditor communications
	    Audit report draft
	3  Minutes
	4  Litter Gitter
	5  GIS Consortium



